Anti-Cancer Effects of Bioactive Compounds from Rose Hip Fruit in Human Breast Cancer Cell Lines

Carotenoids, Triterpenes, and Ascorbate Evaluated Singly or in Combination

Lijie Zhong

Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science Department of Plant Breeding Alnarp

> Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Alnarp 2017

Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2017:8

Cover: Rose hip fruits, TNF- α induced NF- κ B translocated to the nucleus, and inhibited TNF- α induced NF- κ B translocation (photo: L. Zhong). Molecular structure (L. Zhong). Pattern design (X. Qiao).

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8789-0 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8790-6 © 2017 Lijie Zhong, Alnarp Print: SLU Service/Repro, Alnarp 2017

Anti-cancer effects of bioactive compounds from rose hip fruit in human breast cancer cell lines – Carotenoids, triterpenes, and ascorbate evaluated singly or in combination

Abstract

Rose hips have long been used in human diets as a food ingredient and supplement. Their multiple medical properties, which have been attributed to their abundant carotenoid composition, have attracted widespread scientific attention. This thesis examined the carotenoid composition in rose hips from five rose species. The anticancer effect of different carotenoid fractions from rose hips was investigated in human breast cancer cell lines, using the natural variation in carotenoid content in hips from different rose species. Based on the results obtained, representative single carotenoids were selected for further investigation.

A rapid, effective method was developed using a HPLC-DAD-APCI⁺-MS system for carotenoid identification and quantification in rose hips. Twenty-one carotenoids, including 11 xanthophylls and 10 carotenes, were detected in saponified extract and 23 carotenoid esters in unsaponified extract from hips of the five rose species. Three fractions were subsequently isolated from total carotenoid extract of rose hips and their anti-proliferative activities were investigated in human breast cancer cell lines. Xanthophyll ester fraction was proved more potent than lycopene isomer or an undefined carotene fraction. *Rosa multiflora* Thunb. hips were the most effective, giving low IC₅₀ values in MTT assay, and a unique xanthophyll ester pattern was found in this species.

When xanthophyll ester was combined with triterpenes in MTT assay, synergistic effects were found in the MCF-7 cancer cell line. A significant synergistic effect was also found on combining a 10 μ M concentration of rose hip triterpene fraction with 50 μ M ascorbate, which resulted in strong inhibition in cell proliferation in MCF-7 cell line, while normal-like cells MCF-10A were relatively undamaged.

Xanthophyll esters were verified to be more effective than free xanthophylls in MTT assay comparing lutein and zeaxanthin with their esters. The xanthophyll ester fraction from *R. multiflora* and individual xanthophyll esters were found to decrease cancer stem cell sub-populations and inhibit cell migration. Xanthophyll esters were suggested to affect breast cancer cells by a mechanism involving the NF- κ B pathway.

Overall, these results support the beneficial health effects of rose hips and reveal potential to involve xanthophyll esters in future breast cancer therapy.

Keywords: rose hip, fruit, xanthophyll ester, *Rosa* sp., breast cancer, JIMT-1, MCF-7, MCF-10A, MTT assay, anti-proliferative, synergistic effect, cancer stem cell

Author's address: Lijie Zhong, Department of Plant Breeding, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, P.O. Box 101, SE 230 53 Alnarp, Sweden *E-mail:* Lijie.Zhong@slu.se

Dedication

To my family, friends and myself.

Smile . . . *tomorrow will be worse*. Murphy's philosophy

Contents

List	of Publications	8
Abbr	reviations	10
1	Introduction	11
1.1	Rose hips	11
	1.1.1 Origin, history and cultivation of the rose plant	11
	1.1.2 Health properties of rose hips	12
1.2	Carotenoids	13
	1.2.1 Structural properties of carotenoids	13
	1.2.2 Health effects of carotenoids	14
1.3	Triterpenes	16
1.4	Ascorbate (vitamin C)	17
1.5	Human breast cancer and cell lines	18
	1.5.1 Breast-derived cell lines	19
	1.5.2 Cancer stem cells	21
	1.5.3 Nuclear factor-κB pathway	22
2	Aims and objectives	24
3	Materials and methods	26
3.1	Plant materials	26
	3.1.1 Dry sample extraction	27
	3.1.2 Fresh sample extraction	27
	3.1.3 Saponification	28
3.2	Identification, quantification and isolation of carotenoid	
	fractions/compounds	
	3.2.1 Identification and quantification of carotenoids in rose hips and	
	procedure for isolation	28
	3.2.2 Isolation of lutein esters from marigold petals	29
3.3	Quantification of triterpenes and isolation of the triterpene fraction	29
3.4	Chemical synthesis of zeaxanthin dimyristate	29
3.5	Cell culture conditions	30
3.6	MIIassay	30
3.7	Cancer stem cell population ALDH ⁺ assay	31
3.8	Cell migration assay	31
3.9	Nuclear factor-κB translocation assay	31

4	Resu	Its and discussion	33
4.1	HPLC	-DAD-APCI*-MS method development and carotenoid	
	identif	fication	33
4.2	Carot	enoid content in rose hips	34
4.3	Anti-proliferative effects of carotenoids, triterpenes, and ascorbate		35
	4.3.1	Anti-proliferative effects of different carotenoid fractions from	rose
		hips	35
	4.3.2	Anti-proliferative effects of combinations of lutein dimyristate,	
		triterpenes, and ascorbate	38
4.4	Inhibit	tory effects of carotenoids on cancer stem cell ALDH ⁺ population	on 39
4.5	Inhibit	tory effects of carotenoids on cell migration	39
4.6	Inhibit	tion of TNF- α -induced NF- κ B translocation to the nucleus by	
	xanth	ophyll esters	41
5	Conc	lusions and future perspectives	43
Refe	rences		46
Ackn	owled	pements	58

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Zhong, L., Gustavsson, K.E., Oredsson, S., Głąb, B., Yilmaz, J.L. & Olsson, M.E. (2016). Determination of free and esterified carotenoid composition in rose hip fruit by HPLC-DAD-APCI⁺-MS. *Food Chemistry* 210, 541-550.
- II Zhong, L., Olsson, M.E., Huang, X., Gustavsson, K.E. & Oredsson, S. Cancer phenotype-specific effect of the xanthophyll ester fraction extracted from rose hips in a human breast cancer cell line. (Submitted)
- III Zhong, L., Paulsen, F., Strand, D., Oredsson, S. & Olsson, M.E. Anti-cancer activities of lutein dimyristate and zeaxanthin dimyristate in human breast cancer cell lines and a breast epithelial cell line. (Manuscript)
- IV Zhong, L., Oredsson, S. & Olsson, M.E. Effects of combining triterpenes, lutein dimyristate and ascorbate on cell proliferation in human breast cancer cell lines and a breast epithelial cell line. (Manuscript)

Papers I is reproduced with the permission of the publisher.

The contribution of Lijie Zhong to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Planned the experiment with the supervisors, performed the experimental work, analysed the chromatograms and wrote the manuscript with contributions from the co-authors.
- II Participated in planning the experiment with the supervisors, performed the experimental work and data analysis and wrote the manuscript with contributions from the co-authors.
- III Participated in planning the experiment with the supervisors, performed the experimental work and data analysis and wrote the manuscript with contributions from the co-authors.
- IV Planned the experiment with the supervisors, performed all the experimental work and data analysis and wrote the manuscript with contributions from the co-authors.

Abbreviations

ALDH	Aldehyde dehydrogenase
APCI	Atmospheric pressure chemical ionisation
BA	Betulinic acid
CSC	Cancer stem cell
DAD	Diode array detector
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
IC ₂₅	Concentration giving 25% inhibition
IC ₅₀	Concentration giving 50% inhibition
MDR	Multidrug resistance
MS	Mass spectrometry
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor-ĸB
OA	Oleanolic acid
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
TCE	Total carotenoid extract
TF	Triterpene fraction
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor-α
UA	Ursolic acid

1 Introduction

1.1 Rose hips

Rose hips, also called rose haws or rose heps, are the fruit of the rose plant (Figure 1). The typical colour of rose hips is orange to red, but it ranges from dark purple to black in some species. Rose hips are commonly used as herbal tea and to make jam, jelly, marmalade, and rose hip wine. An oil is also extracted from the seeds. Rose hip soup (*nyponsoppa*) is an especially popular drink in Sweden. A traditional fruit brandy (*pálinka*) made from rose hips is popular in Hungary, Romania and other countries sharing an Austro-Hungarian history. Rose hips are also used as the central ingredient of *cockta*, the fruity-tasting national soft drink of Slovenia.



Figure 1. (A) Rosa rubiginosa L. bush and (B) rose hips. Photos: L. Zhong.

1.1.1 Origin, history and cultivation of the rose plant

Roses belong to the genus *Rosa*, in the family Rosaceae. Most species are native to Asia, with smaller numbers native to Europe, North America and north-west Africa. There are more than 100 species in the *Rosa* genus growing in temperate and subtropical climates of the Northern hemisphere. For over

4700 years, roses have been used mainly for ornamental purposes, but also for cosmetic and medical purposes (Gustavsson, 1998).

Rose bushes require relatively low levels of horticultural maintenance. The fruit is a potentially profitable crop for the food and nutraceutical industries. In the food industry, rose hips from dogrose (Rosa canina L.) have a long tradition of use in various types of foods around the world (Werlemark & Nybom, 2010). However, many of the rose hips used today for commercial products are still collected from the wild, as traditional rose breeding objectives have mainly focused on cut flower properties, including productivity, postharvest life and increased fragrance, but not on rose hip production (Gudin, 2000). The first commercial rose hip plantations in southern Sweden were established in the mid-1980s, primarily using superior selections mainly of the species Rosa dumalis Bechst. and Rosa rubiginosa L. which were chosen based on yield, disease resistance, fruit quality (e.g. high content of ascorbic acid, total antioxidants, high level of dry matter) and their suitability for mechanical harvesting (Uggla, 2004; Uggla & Nybom, 1996). Since the 1990s, Kovács and co-workers in Hungary have evaluated the physical and phytochemical characteristics of rose hips from a series of native Hungarian rose species for commercial rose hip production and future rose hip breeding (Kovács et al., 2010; Kovacs et al., 1999). However, commercial rose hip breeding has not been developed widely to date.

1.1.2 Health properties of rose hips

Rose hips contain abundant phytochemicals, including phenolics, flavonoids, tocopherols, fatty acids, and triterpene acids, with especially large amounts of ascorbate (vitamin C), and carotenoids (Zhong *et al.*, 2016; Wenzig *et al.*, 2008; Olsson *et al.*, 2004). Various phytochemicals in rose hips have antioxidant activity and can act as scavengers of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Barros *et al.*, 2010).

Rose hips have long been used in traditional folk medicine, but their multiple health properties have drawn more attention and have been investigated more frequently in recent decades. The British Herbal Pharmacopoeia reports that rose hips can be used for gastritis, diarrhoea, polydipsia, and vitamin C deficiency (Pharmacopoeia, 1983). In both laboratory and pre-clinical trials, rose hips have been found to have anti-inflammatory activity, which has been attributed to high concentrations of galactolipids in the fruit (Christensen, 2009; Kharazmi, 2008). In clinical studies, rose hip powder has been found to reduce the pain of osteoarthritis (Christensen *et al.*, 2008; Rossnagel *et al.*, 2007) and to provide moderate benefits for patients with rheumatoid arthritis and chronic back pain (Willich *et*

al., 2010; Chrubasik *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, rose hips have been shown to possess hypoglycaemic effects in diabetic rats and to produce a modest lowering of total cholesterol in humans, which supports the traditional use in Turkey of rose hips to treat diabetes (Orhan *et al.*, 2009; Rein *et al.*, 2004). A standardised rose hip (*Rosa canina* L.) powder produced in Denmark has been on the market as an herbal remedy in the Scandinavian area for many years and is also readily available in Australia and New Zealand (Cohen, 2012; Winther, 2008).

Besides interest in the anti-inflammatory activity, studies on the anti-cancer activity of rose hips have increased in recent years. Rose hip extract has been found to decrease the proliferation of human glioblastoma cell lines A-172, U-251 MG, and U-1242 MG, human cervix epithelial cancer cell line HeLa, human breast cancer cell line MCF-7 and human colon cancer cell line HT-29, effects which have mainly been attributed to the polyphenols and the abundant carotenoid constituents (Cagle *et al.*, 2012; Tumbas *et al.*, 2012; Olsson *et al.*, 2004).

1.2 Carotenoids

Carotenoids are one of the dominant phytochemical groups in rose hips. The concentration of carotenoids can reach 1 mg/g dry weight in ripe rose hips, which is two-fold and eight-fold higher than the concentration reported for flavonoids and phenolics in rose hips, respectively. The carotenoid content in rose hips is much higher than that in many other fruits and berries, including cherry, raspberry, blueberry, blackcurrant, plum, and apple (Andersson *et al.*, 2011; Olsson *et al.*, 2004).

1.2.1 Structural properties of carotenoids

Carotenoids, which are also called tetraterpenoids, include all derivatives of tetraterpenes. Carotenoids have a long conjugated double chain formed by eight isoprene units. Natural carotenoids exist either in free form or in esterified form. The free form carotenoids are classified as carotenes (which are purely hydrocarbons and contain no oxygen), for example lycopene, α - and β -carotene, and xanthophylls (which contain oxygen), for example violaxanthin, lutein, and zeaxanthin (Figure 2). Due to the existence of the hydroxyl group, xanthophylls can be esterified with fatty acids to form xanthophyll esters.



Figure 2. Chemical structure of isoprene, β -carotene (an example of a carotene), lutein (an example of a xanthophyll), and lutein dimyristate (an example of a xanthophyll ester).

The conjugated polyene chromophore determines the light absorption properties, the natural yellow to red colour, the photochemical properties of the molecule, and consequently the photo-protective action in the original organism (Britton, 1995a). Carotenoids have special finger-shaped absorbance spectra in the 400-500 nm wavelength range (Britton, 1995b). Each individual spectrum can be defined by the wavelength of the middle absorption band (λ_{max}) and a numerical notation %III/II, describing the fine structure (Figure 3).

1.2.2 Health effects of carotenoids

Epidemiological studies have shown that increased dietary intake of carotenoids reduces the risk of coronary heart disease in men (Liu *et al.*, 2001) and women (Osganian *et al.*, 2003) and decreases the risk of cardiovascular disease mortality (Gaziano *et al.*, 1995). In elderly men, total plasma carotenoid level can be a health indicator due to its negative association with mortality risk (Akbaraly *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 3. A representative spectral fine structure of lycopene. %III/II is calculated for each individual carotenoid (Britton, 1995b).

The relationship between carotenoids and different types of cancers has also been widely investigated. A positive correlation between plasma carotenoid concentration and recurrence-free survival rate in women diagnosed with earlystage breast cancer has been suggested (Rock et al., 2005). In a large casecontrol study, lutein, but not other carotenoids, has been found to be inversely associated with colon cancer in both men and women (1993 cases, 2410 controls) (Slattery et al., 2000). Moreover, plasma carotenoid level has been found to be inversely associated with the risk of cervical neoplasia (Potischman & Brinton, 1996) and β -carotene has been found to induce apoptosis in cervical dysplastic cells and prevent cervical carcinogenesis in in vitro studies (Muto et al., 1995). No association has been found between lung cancer risk and dietary lycopene or β -cryptoxanthin intake, whereas dose-dependent inverse associations have been found for dietary β -carotene, α -carotene, and lutein. No other carotenoid, but high intake of lycopene, has been found to be associated with a 35% lower risk of total prostate cancer and a 53% lower risk of advanced prostate cancer (Giovannucci, 2002). All these studies indicate the specificity of the anti-cancer properties of different carotenoids in multiple cancer types. Therefore, consuming fruit and vegetables containing various carotenoids, compared with only foods rich in a particular carotenoid, is suggested for a healthy life.

1.3 Triterpenes

Triterpenes are constructed of six isoprene units, which can build nearly 200 different skeletons (Xu *et al.*, 2004). Triterpenes are one of the most diverse groups of plant natural products, with more than 20,000 compounds reported to date. Triterpenes are components of surface waxes, which accumulate in the epicuticular and intracuticular wax layers of stem and leaf surfaces (Buschhaus *et al.*, 2007).

Triterpenes can be classified into different groups according to their biosynthetic pathways. These include the squalene, lanostane, dammarance, lupane, oleanane, ursane, and hopane groups, and a miscellaneous group (Hill & Connolly, 2012). Ursolic acid (UA) (belonging to the ursane group), oleanolic acid (OA) (belonging to the oleanane group), and betulinic acid (BA) (belonging to the lupane group) are representative pentacyclic triterpenes (Hill & Connolly, 2012). Their chemical structures are shown in Appendix 1 in Paper IV.

Ursolic acid concentration has been found to range from 60 to 100 mg per 100 g of fresh matter in cranberry fruit (Kondo, 2006) and UA has also been isolated from blueberry fruit (Wang *et al.*, 2000). Oleanolic acid is the most abundant constituent of grape wax (Radler & Horn, 1965). Both UA and OA are present in sweet cherry fruit wax and in apple peel (Lv *et al.*, 2015; Peschel *et al.*, 2007). A considerable amount of BA is found in the outer bark of a variety of tree species, especially the birch tree (Yogeeswari & Sriram, 2005). These three triterpenes have all been detected in rose hips, with UA constituting 80% of the total triterpene content in *Rosa canina* L. (Wenzig *et al.*, 2008), while OA, UA, and BA are approximately equally distributed in *Rosa multiflora* Thunb. (Paper IV).

Triterpenes have a wide range of applications in the food, cosmetics and pharmaceutical industries (Thimmappa *et al.*, 2014). White birch bark, containing BA, is used by Native Americans as a folk remedy and is used in tea and other beverages to treat stomach and intestinal problems such as diarrhoea and dysentery (Yogeeswari & Sriram, 2005). Both OA and UA, and their derivatives, have well-documented anti-inflammatory (Li *et al.*, 2003), anti-ulcer (Nishino *et al.*, 1988), hepatoprotective (Udayama *et al.*, 1998), anti-diabetic (Ortiz-Andrade *et al.*, 2007), fungicidal (Becker *et al.*, 2005) and anti-parasitic (Cunha *et al.*, 2003) effects. Anti-cancer activity of OA, UA, and BA has been reported for a wide variety of cancer cell lines (Shyu *et al.*, 2010; Srivastava *et al.*, 2010; Petronelli *et al.*, 2009). It has also been found that inhibition of growth and metastasis of human colorectal cancer cell lines by UA can be enhanced in combination with capcetabine (Prasad *et al.*, 2012). A triterpene extract (containing OA, UA, and BA) from Japanese apricot has

been reported to show synergistic cytotoxicity in oesophageal squamous carcinoma cells (YES-2 cells) when combined with the anticancer drug 5-fluorouracil, causing apoptosis and inhibiting metastasis in a mouse model (Yamai *et al.*, 2009). These studies reveal potential to enhance anti-cancer activity by combining triterpenes with other anti-cancer compounds.

1.4 Ascorbate (vitamin C)

Ascorbate/ascorbic acid/vitamin C is the most abundant antioxidant in plant tissues (Walker *et al.*, 2006). It is an important nutrient for normal metabolic functions in humans. Deficiency of ascorbate can lead to various symptoms of scurvy (Padh, 1991). Ascorbate plays an important protective role in the body against damage by free radicals through its free radical scavenging ability and contributes to protection of cellular membranes against lipid peroxidation and damage to DNA and cellular organelles (Bendich *et al.*, 1986). Rose hips are an ascorbate-rich resource. The ascorbate content in rose hips is much higher than many other fruits and berries (Olsson *et al.*, 2004), *e.g.* it can be up to 47.5 mg/g in the richest samples from the species *Rosa cinnamomea* L. and *Rosa. acicularis* Lindl. (Pyke & Melville, 1942).

Besides the well-known antioxidant properties, high doses of ascorbate exhibit pro-oxidant properties, through interaction with metal ions, catalysing their oxidation with concomitant formation of H_2O_2 (Chen *et al.*, 2008; Fisher & Naughton, 2004). Cancer cells are more susceptible to increased oxidative stress by ATP depletion than normal cells. Primary ATP generation in normal cells occurs through oxidative phosphorylation, but in cancer cells glycolysis may play a major role (the Warburg effect) (López-Lázaro, 2008). It has been suggested that H_2O_2 decreases glycolysis in cancer cells and that the mitochondria are more sensitive to H_2O_2 , resulting in decreased ATP production. Cancer cells that are specifically glycolysis-dependent could be particularly sensitive to H_2O_2 compared with normal cells (Chen *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, high doses of ascorbate have been used in pro-oxidative therapeutic strategies in cancer treatment (Venturelli *et al.*, 2015).

In humans taking ascorbate orally, the resulting plasma concentration rarely exceeds 80 μ M, even up to 2000 mg per day is ingested (Levine *et al.*, 1996). In Sweden the recommended daily intake of ascorbate for adult is 75 mg per day (SLV, 2017). In Sweden, therefore the ascorbate concentrations showing cytotoxicity in cancer cells in culture (mM) can only be achieved by intravenous administration to patients (Verrax & Calderon, 2009). Furthermore, parenterally administered ascorbate (≈ 0.25 -0.5 mg/g body weight) has been shown to preferentially generate Asc• and H₂O₂ in the

extracellular fluid but not in blood, which has been suggested to provide a foundation for pursuing ascorbate treatment in cancer therapy (Chen *et al.*, 2007).

A previous study reported a positive correlation between the level of vitamin C and the anti-proliferative effect of 10 extracts from different fruits and berries in the HT29 human colon cancer cell line and in the MCF-7 human breast cancer cell line (Olsson *et al.*, 2004). Lately, it has been found that ascorbate improves the therapeutic efficacy of gemcitabine in human pancreatic cancer cell lines (Espey *et al.*, 2011) and acts synergistically with sorafenib in killing hepetocellular carcinoma HepG2 cells, but not in primary hepatocytes (Rouleau *et al.*, 2016). This thesis examined the ability of different combinations of carotenoids, ascorbate, and triterpenes to yield synergistic effects in cancer treatment.

1.5 Human breast cancer and cell lines

Breast cancer originates from breast tissue. Some breast cancers start in the ducts where milk is transported to the nipple (ductal cancers), while other breast cancers have their origin in the glands where the breast milk is generated (lobular cancers) (Sariego *et al.*, 1995). The hormones oestrogen and progesterone promote breast cancer growth and a positive association has been found between increased risk of breast cancer and sex hormone concentrations in both pre-menopausal (Hormones & Group, 2013) (Key *et al.*, 2013) and post-menopausal women (Hankinson *et al.*, 1998). Men can also contract breast cancer, but it is about 100-fold more common in women than in men (Hotko, 2013).

Breast cancer is the most frequent carcinoma in women (Lux *et al.*, 2006). Worldwide, 1.7 million new cases were diagnosed in 2012 and the breast cancer death rate is higher than that for any other cancer apart from lung cancer. The chance of a woman dying from breast cancer is about 3% (Torre *et al.*, 2015). Breast cancer is staged from 0 to IV/(4) according to the size of the tumour, whether it has grown into nearby areas, whether it has reached the lymph nodes and whether it has metastasised (American Cancer Society, 2016). The five-year survival rate is 99% for diagnosed early-stage breast cancer patients, but only 23% for advanced-stage patients. The recurrence rate five and ten years after treatment is 11% and 29%, respectively (Brewster *et al.*, 2008).

The heterogeneity of breast cancer has been noted in histological and clinical studies for a long time. Breast cancer is one of the few cancer types that has so far been subjected to molecular classification for individual therapy, which has significantly improved the clinical outcome (Polyak, 2011).



Figure 4. Schematic representation of normal breast tissue (American Cancer Society, 2016).

1.5.1 Breast-derived cell lines

Breast cancers can be classified into different sub-groups according to receptors that exist in the cell membrane, cytoplasm, and nucleus, which bind chemical messengers and induce reactions in cells. The most important receptors for breast cancer classification are hormone receptors (including oestrogen and progesterone receptors) and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) (Vuong *et al.*, 2014). Hormone receptor-positive cancers, which are more common in women after the menopause, can be treated with hormonal therapy drugs that decrease oestrogen levels or block oestrogen receptors (Pusztai *et al.*, 2006). Hormone receptor-negative cancers, which are more common in women before the menopause, can be classified into HER2-positive cancer or triple-negative cancer (cells do not have oestrogen and progesterone receptors or HER2 receptor) (American Cancer Society, 2016). Clinically, the prognosis for patients with HER2 tumours is poorer than that for patients with oestrogen receptor-positive tumours and triple-negative cancer is correlated with a worse prognosis and a higher risk of death (Liu *et al.*, 2013).

In the present thesis, the two human breast cancer cell lines MCF-7 and JIMT-1 were chosen for testing due to their representative characteristics for different breast cancer sub-groups. In addition, the human breast-derived MCF-10A cell line was used as a normal-like cell model for comparison.

JIMT-1 (Figure 5A) is a human ductal carcinoma breast cancer cell line established from a pleural metastasis in a 62-year-old female patient in 2004 (Tanner *et al.*, 2004). The JIMT-1 cells lack expression of oestrogen and progesterone receptors and overexpress HER2 mRNA and protein, therefore are classified into the HER2 sub-group of breast cancers. However, JIMT-1 cells are insensitive to HER2-inhibiting antibodies, for instance trastuzumab, pertuzumab, and lapatinib (Köninki *et al.*, 2010; Tanner *et al.*, 2004). The JIMT-1 cell line is phenotypically of epithelial progenitor cell origin, with a doubling time of about 24 hours.



Figure 5. Phase contrast images of the human breast cancer cell lines (A) JIMT-1 and (B) MCF-7, and (C) the human normal-like breast epithelial cell line MCF-10A. Bars = 20μ M. Photos: L. Zhong.

MCF-7 (Figure 5B) is a human breast cancer cell line established from the pleural effusion of a 69-year-old female patient with metastatic mammary carcinoma in 1972 (Soule *et al.*, 1973). MCF-7 is an oestrogen-positive cell line and has proven to be an excellent model for studying the mechanism of tumour response to endocrine therapy and the biological actions of hormones (Levenson & Jordan, 1997; Horwitz *et al.*, 1975). The doubling time of the MCF-7 cell line is about 35 hours.

MCF-10A (Figure 5C) is a normal-like breast epithelial cell line derived from human diploid fibrocystic mammary tissue and has been maintained as an attached immortal cell line since 1990 (Soule *et al.*, 1990). It has been used for studying the mechanism of breast epithelium transformation and in many breast cancer therapy research studies as a normal-like breast epithelial cell model (Ramachandran *et al.*, 2005; Davis *et al.*, 2000; Tannheimer *et al.*, 1998; Ginestra *et al.*, 1997; Soule *et al.*, 1990).

1.5.2 Cancer stem cells

Since the first discovery of leukaemia stem cells about a decade ago (Dick, 1997), attention has been drawn to a cell sub-population now also found in solid tumours that has similar properties to somatic (tissue-specific) stem cells. This cell population has been named tumour-initiating cells or cancer stem cells (CSCs) (Kai *et al.*, 2010). The latter definition is used in this thesis. Like normal tissue-specific stem cells, CSCs possess self-renewal and differentiation abilities, through symmetrical and asymmetrical division, respectively (Figure 6). The microenvironment of the CSCs, which is termed the CSC 'niche', is believed to maintain the properties of CSCs (Reya *et al.*, 2001). During recent years, CSCs have been recognised as important targets for cancer treatments (Dragu *et al.*, 2015).



Figure 6. Cancer stem cells (CSCs) and their self-renewal and differentiation abilities, which maintain the hierarchical structure of cancer tissue (Kai *et al.*, 2010).

The suggestion that only a minority of breast cancer cells have the ability to form new tumours was initially put forward by Ai-Hajj et al. (2003). Breast cancer cells are heterogeneous with respect to expression of various types of cell surface markers. The same investigation done by Ai-Hajj et al. found that the tumour-forming sub-population or the CSC sub-population had increased expression of CD44 and reduced or absent expression of CD24 on the cell membrane (CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low}). This sub-population was found to be highly tumorigenic compared with other phenotypes (Al-Hajj et al., 2003). Later, aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH), an enzyme family that catalyses dehydrogenation of aldehydes, was found to be expressed in a sub-population of human normal breast cells and this sub-population was found to have phenotypic and functional characteristics of mammary stem cells (Ginestier et al., 2007). Furthermore, the ALDH⁺ population has been shown to contain a number of up-regulated stem cell-related genes. The presence of ALDH⁺ has also been shown to be a good marker for CSC sub-population identification (Charafe-Jauffret et al., 2009).

Despite the fact that diagnostics and therapeutic treatment for cancer have achieved significant improvements, metastasis still results in about 90% of cancer deaths and is the major cause of cancer mortality (Christofori, 2006; Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). Clinically, therapeutic agents that inhibit tumour metastasis are highly desirable. Metastasis is a multistep process through which a primary tumour moves from its initial site to secondary tissues or organs (Fidler, 2003; Weiss, 1999). In 2007, it was suggested that the CSCs might be primarily responsible for tumour metastasis (Dalerba *et al.*, 2007). The relationship between CSCs and tumour metastasis has been investigated in pancreatic cancer and it has been shown that the CSC sub-population is essential for this process (Dalerba & Clarke, 2007; Hermann *et al.*, 2007). One of the essential steps in tumour metastasis is cell migration and invasion, through which tumour cells can enter the lymphatic system and blood vessels and thereby spread into secondary organs (Steeg, 2006; Mareel & Leroy, 2003).

Some studies have shown that overexpression of HER2 receptors in a series of breast cancer cell lines increases the ALDH⁺ CSC sub-population, with increased expression of stem cell regulatory genes, increased invasion and increased tumorigenesis in mice (Korkaya *et al.*, 2008). HER2-positive cell lines are specially enriched in a distinct CSC sub-population defined by ALDH⁺ (Lesniak *et al.*, 2013). The JIMT-1 cell line, the first commercially established HER2-positive cell line, contains a rather large proportion of cells with ALDH activity and it is used as a model for CSC studies in cell culture studies.

1.5.3 Nuclear factor-κB pathway

Many therapeutic agents exert their activity against cancer cells by affecting various complex signal transduction pathways. The nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) pathway was initially identified as a regulator in B lymphocytes nearly 30 years ago and has been examined extensively in cancer therapy studies. NF- κ B is a family of proteins consisting of five members, p50, p52, p65 (RelA), RelB, and c-Rel, forming homo- and heterodimers, which are responsible for activating transcription of target genes for immunoregulation, inflammation, proliferation, and cell differentiation (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2013; Hayden & Ghosh, 2008). When not active, NF- κ B is sequestered in the cytoplasm by association with inhibitory proteins. When triggered by stimuli, NF- κ B dimers are released and translocated to the nucleus, where they bind to specific DNA sequences and promote the transcription of target genes (Hayden & Ghosh, 2008).

In normal cells, NF- κ B becomes activated only under appropriate stimuli and afterwards returns to the bound inactive state, while in cancer cells it may be constitutively activated due to dysregulation, resulting in impaired regulation of gene expression (Dolcet *et al.*, 2005). Thus, the NF- κ B pathway is a target for therapeutic intervention and thus for drug development.

It has been reported that the NF- κ B pathway is important for leukaemia stem cells (Guzman *et al.*, 2005; Malaguarnera *et al.*, 2003; Guzman *et al.*, 2001) and that the CSC sub-population of breast cancers can be selectively inhibited by targeting the NF- κ B pathway (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2013; Zhou *et al.*, 2008). In this thesis, the NF- κ B pathway was investigated as a mechanism of action of some compounds that showed inhibition of the CSC sub-population.

2 Aims and objectives

The overall aims of this thesis were to: 1) determine the carotenoid composition of rose hips from different species; 2) investigate the antiproliferative activities of different carotenoid fractions and single carotenoid compounds; 3) explore the effects of selected carotenoid fractions and single carotenoids on breast cancer cells and on the CSC sub-population and elucidate the mechanism; and 4) investigate the combined effect of different phytochemicals on cancer cell proliferation.

Specific objectives were to:

- Develop a simple, rapid, and efficient HPLC-DAD-APCI⁺-MS method for identifying and quantifying the carotenoid composition in rose hips from different rose species (Paper I)
- Investigate the anti-proliferative activity of various carotenoid fractions in rose hips from different rose species in human breast cancer cell lines (Paper II)
- Compare the anti-proliferative activity of xanthophylls and xanthophyll esters on human breast cancer cell lines (Paper III)
- Investigate the inhibitory effect of the most effective carotenoid ester fraction and individual xanthophyll esters on the CSC sub-population and elucidate the mechanism (Papers II and III)
- Investigate the combined anti-proliferative effect of carotenoids, triterpenes and ascorbate in cancer cells and normal-like cells (Paper IV).

The hypotheses tested were that:

- Carotenoid composition and concentration vary between rose species (Paper I)
- Anti-proliferative activity varies between carotenoid fractions, rose species, and cancer cell lines (Paper II)
- Xanthophyll esters are more potent inhibitors of cell proliferation than xanthophylls (Paper III)
- The carotenoid ester fraction from rose hips and individual xanthophyll esters inhibit the CSC sub-population, partly through the NF-κB pathway (Papers II and III)
- The combined effect of carotenoids, triterpenes, and ascorbate on cell proliferation varies between different combinations of compounds, concentrations, and different cell lines (Paper IV)

3 Materials and methods

The procedures used in the analyses are described briefly below. Detailed information on all methods can be found in Papers I-IV.

3.1 Plant materials

Five rose species were used in this study: *Rosa rubiginosa* L. (Figure 7A), *Rosa carolina* L. (Figure 7B), *Rosa multiflora* Thunb. (Figure 7C), *Rosa virginiana* P. Mill (Figure 7D), and *Rosa rugosa* Thunb. (Figure 7E). Rose hips from plants of these five species growing in Alnarpsparken (55°39'N, 13°04'E), Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Alnarp, Sweden, were used in the experiments. Fruit harvesting was carried out at the fully ripe stage in the late harvest season, defined according to a previous study (Andersson *et al.*, 2011), in order to obtain high carotenoid levels. Rose hips were picked from two to three bushes for each species and pooled (Figure 7). All samples were stored at -80 °C immediately after harvest until extraction.

Rose hips from *R. rubiginosa*, *R. multiflora*, *R. virginiana*, and *R. rugosa* harvested in autumn 2014 were used in Paper I. Rose hips from *R. rubiginosa*, *R. carolina*, *R. multiflora*, *R. virginiana*, and *R. rugosa* harvested in autumn 2013 were used in Paper II and rose hips from *R. multiflora* harvested in autumn 2014 were used in Paper IV.

Marigold (*Tagetes erecta* L.) flowers were grown in the greenhouse at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Alnarp, Sweden. Fresh flower petals were harvested and used for extraction of lutein dimyristate (Paper III) and lutein myristate palmitate (Paper II).



Figure 7. Photos showing how the size and colour of rose hips differ between species: (A) *R. rubiginosa*, (B) *R. carolina*, (C) *R. multiflora*, (D) *R. virginiana*, and (E) *R. rugosa*. Bar at right bottom corner of each picture = 1 cm. Photos: L. Zhong.

3.1.1 Dry sample extraction

In general, plant materials for analysis were first freeze-dried, milled, and homogenised. A fixed amount of rose hip powder or marigold petal powder was extracted with an adequate amount of ethanol/n-hexane (v/v, 4/3), hexane, or ethanol depending on the objective (Table 1). After 30 min ultrasonication and 20 h shaking at 4 °C in darkness, the extract was centrifuged at 3000 g at 4 °C for 10 min. When carotenoid fractions were isolated, around 1 mL supernatant was saved for quantification. The other part was dried under N₂ and dissolved in tetrahydrofuran (THF) for carotenoid fraction isolation and in ethanol for triterpene fraction (TF) isolation.

3.1.2 Fresh sample extraction

Fresh marigold petals were used for extraction in Paper II. A 30 g portion of fresh petals was homogenised in 200 mL methanol/ethyl acetate/petroleum ether (v/v/v, 1/1/1). After 1 h shaking, the upper phase was collected. The extraction was conducted three times in total. About 20 mg of anhydrous sodium sulphate (Na₂SO₄) were added to the extract to absorb the remaining water. After centrifugation, the supernatant was dried under N₂ and dissolved in 100 μ L THF for isolation.

Purpose	Plant material	Solvent	Paper
Carotenoid identification and quantification	0.5 g rose hip powder	10 mL ethanol/n-hexane (v/v, 4/3)	Ι
Carotenoid fraction isolation	1.5 g rose hip powder	15 mL ethanol/n-hexane (v/v, 4/3)	ΙΙ
Lutein ester isolation	1.5 g marigold petal powder	30 mL hexane	III, IV
Triterpene quantification and fraction isolation	5 g rose hip powder	50 mL ethanol	IV

Table 1. Extraction methods used for different purposes in Papers I-IV

3.1.3 Saponification

In Paper I, the samples were subjected to saponification to determine the xanthophyll composition of the rose hips. In brief, 500 μ L of 10% (w/v) KOH in methanol:water (4:1, v/v) solution and 200 mg butylated hydroxytoluene were added slowly to 5 mL carotenoid extract under N₂. After 45 min at 75 °C, 5 mL of 2% (w/v) KCl and 5 mL n-hexane/ethyl acetate (9:1, v/v) were added. The sample was then centrifuged at 3000 g for 5 min to obtain the upper organic layer. Extraction after saponification was conducted three times in total. The supernatant was dried under N₂ and dissolved in 5 mL acetone.

3.2 Identification, quantification and isolation of carotenoid fractions/compounds

3.2.1 Identification and quantification of carotenoids in rose hips and procedure for isolation

A high-performance liquid chromatograph equipped with a diode array detector and an atmospheric pressure chemical ionisation (positive mode) mass spectrometer (HPLC-DAD-APCI⁺-MS) was used for carotenoid identification and quantification in Paper I. HPLC-DAD was used for carotenoid quantification and fraction isolation in Paper II.

A Phenomenex Luna column (3 μ , 100 \times 3 mm C18 (2)) with a C18 security guard column was used for identification and quantification and a Phenomenex Luna column (5 μ , 150 \times 4.60 mm C18) with a C18 security guard column was used for isolation of fractions. Different elution gradients consisting of solvent A [80% acetonitrile, 15% methanol, and 5% dichloromethane (v/v/v)] and solvent B [30% acetonitrile, 20% methanol, and 50% dichloromethane (v/v/v)] were used according to the purpose of the

analysis. Detection of carotenoids was always carried out at a wavelength of 458 nm.

In Paper I, each carotenoid compound was identified through a combination of absorption spectrum and MS signals. In addition, the fatty acid composition was analysed by gas chromatography (GC). In Paper II, carotenoid fractions were identified and the lycopene isomer fraction, undefined carotene fraction and xanthophyll ester fraction were isolated mainly according to their elution sequence. All carotenoid compounds or fractions were quantified with β -carotene as external standard.

3.2.2 Isolation of lutein esters from marigold petals

Lutein dimyristate and lutein myristate palmitate isolation was carried out with a semi-preparative Phenomenex Luna column (10 μ , 250 \times 10.00 mm C18) with a C18 security guard column. The eluent consisted of 50% acetonitrile, 18% MeOH and 32% dichlormethane (v/v/v). Flow rate was 5 mL/min for 80 min. Lutein dimyristate was isolated between the 27th and 31st min (Figure 2A in Paper III) and lutein myristate palmitate was isolated between the 34th and 38th min (Figure S1 in Paper II).

3.3 Quantification of triterpenes and isolation of the triterpene fraction

Separation and subsequent quantification of triterpenes in rose hips were conducted using an YMC Triart C18 ExRS plus column (3 μ m, 150 x 3.0 mm, 8 nm). Triterpene fraction isolation was carried out with a VYDAC column. Compounds were eluted using 100% acetonitrile and detected at 207 nm wavelength. External standards of UA, OA, and BA were used for quantification (Paper IV).

3.4 Chemical synthesis of zeaxanthin dimyristate

The synthesis procedure was based on a previous study (Khachik & Beecher, 1988). Zeaxanthin dimyristate was produced by esterification of zeaxanthin and myristoyl chloride under N_2 as atmosphere in limited light. The target product was isolated and purified using solid phase chromatography.

Both lutein dimyristate and zeaxanthin dimyristate were quantified using HPLC, with an Agilent Eclipse Plus C18 column (3.5 μ m, 3.0 x 100 mm). The eluent consisted of 40% acetonitrile, 19% methanol, and 41% dichloromethane (v/v/v) with 1 mL/min flow rate for 5 min. β -Carotene was used as external standard (Paper III).

3.5 Cell culture conditions

The two human breast cancer cell lines JIMT-1 and MCF-7 were used in Paper II and the human breast epithelial normal-like cell line MCF-10A was used in addition in Papers III and IV. All cell lines were cultured in their individual formulation of medium. The cells were incubated at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ in air. The JIMT-1 and MCF-10A cells were routine-passaged twice a week and the MCF-7 cells once a week.

When adding compounds, carotenoids and triterpenes were always first dissolved and diluted to a stock in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with 0.1% Tween 80. When compounds or fractions were added to the cell culture medium to the desired concentration, the final concentration of Tween 80 in the cell culture medium was no higher than 0.01%, a non-toxic concentration for cells (Figure S2 in Paper II). In Paper IV, a stock ascorbate solution was made fresh in PBS every time just before use.

3.6 MTT assay

A tetrazolium compound, 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay was used in this thesis. The MTT assay has been widely adopted as a 96-well format cell proliferation indicator in thousands of published articles, based on the simplicity of the protocol. Cells of different cell lines were seeded in 96-well plates in 180 µL medium and incubated for 24 h, and then 20 µL of compound in different concentrations were added to the cells (Figure 8A). After 72 h of incubation, a MTT solution was added to the cells.



Figure 8. Example of a MTT assay in a 96-well plate. (A) Plate image at 24 h after seeding, when compound was added at increasing concentrations from row 4 to row 11. (B) MTT was reduced to formazan by the living cells and the formazan crystals were dissolved in dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO), producing a purple solution. The letter B written on the plates means background (row 1), C means control (rows 2 and 3), and T_1 and T_2 mean different treatments (rows 4 to 11). Photos: L. Zhong.

Living cells reduce MTT to purple formazan (Mosmann, 1983) in the mitochondrial electron transport chain and the absorbance of the purple formazan at 540 nm reflects the number of living cells (Figure 8B). The formazan crystals were dissolved in dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO) and the absorbance of the solution was monitored in a spectrophotometer. Dose response curves were drawn and concentration giving 50% inhibition (IC₅₀) was obtained using the Graphpad software (Papers II, III, and IV).

3.7 Cancer stem cell population ALDH⁺ assay

JIMT-1 cells were seeded in Petri dishes and incubated for 24 h. Compounds were added and cells were then incubated for 72 h. The cells were detached with AccutaseTM and collected in PBS containing 1% foetal calf serum (FCS). The cell density was determined by counting in a haemocytometer and a ALDEFLUOR assay kit was used to determine the number of ALDH⁺ cells according to the protocol in a previous study (Huang *et al.*, 2016) (Papers II and III).

3.8 Cell migration assay

JIMT-1 cells were seeded to achieve high density in Petri dishes. After 24 h incubation, the medium was removed and three parallel wounds were made in the cell layer by scratching. To minimise wound healing resulting from cell proliferation, serum-free medium was added and then the compounds were added before continued incubation. The wound area was photographed using a 10x objective in an inverted phase contrast microscope at 0, 24, and 48 h of incubation. The wound area was measured using Image J software and wound closure was calculated (Papers II and III).

3.9 Nuclear factor-KB translocation assay

JIMT-1 cells were seeded in 12-well plates containing a round glass cover slip in each well. The medium was replaced with medium containing 0.1% FCS after 48 h of incubation. Compounds were added and incubation continued for 1 h, after which tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) was added and incubation continued for 40 min. The cells were then fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde. Blocking buffer was used to block nonspecific binding sites and to permeabilise the cells. Rabbit anti-p65/NF- κ B primary antibody and Alexa 488 anti-rabbit-conjugated secondary antibody were then added sequentially to the samples, with the incubation time with each antibody being 1 h. Thereafter, the cover slips were mounted in Mowiol on slides and the cells were observed using a 100x objective in an epifluorescence microscope. Images were taken and the number of NF- κ B positive cells was determined by manual counting in the images (Papers II and III).

4 Results and discussion

4.1 HPLC-DAD-APCI+-MS method development and carotenoid identification

One of the aims of this thesis was to develop an adequate HPLC-DAD-APCI⁺-MS method for the identification and quantification of carotenoids in rose hips. A simple, rapid method was established on the basis of a previous HPLC-DAD method (Andersson *et al.*, 2011) on a short 100 x 3 mm reverse phase C18 column with 0.8 mL/min gradient elution for 22 min for each sample. An APCI was fitted in the MS detector and positive mode was chosen to identify xanthophyll esters. In addition, the total lipid composition of rose hips was determined in the process, to investigate the fatty acid part of the esterified xanthophylls using GC (Table 2 in Paper I).

The changes in the chromatograms of carotenoids before and after saponification reflected the xanthophylls that existed in ester form in rose hips (Figure 1 in Paper I). Xanthophyll and carotene identification was based on the elution sequence, retention time of the peaks and individual absorbance spectra parameters, including λ_{max} , %III/II (Britton, 1995a; Britton, 1995b) and %A_B/A_{II} (the ratio of the cis peak absorbance (A_B) to the middle peak absorbance (A_{II})) (Goupy *et al.*, 2013; Britton, 1995b). In MS analysis, xanthophylls usually lose one or two H₂O molecules, resulting in [M+H-18]⁺ or [M+H-18-18]⁺ fragments, respectively. The abundance of the MS signal fragments also provides information on molecular structure difference, for instance lutein and zeaxanthin isomers (Delgado-Pelayo & Hornero-Méndez, 2012) (Table 1 in Paper I).

Identification of xanthophyll esters was based on the combination of absorption spectrum obtained from the DAD detector and the protonated molecular mass $[M+H]^+$ and molecular fragments obtained from the MS detector. Xanthophyll esters losing one molecule of capric acid (C10:0), lauric

acid (C12:0), myristic acid (C14:0) or palmitic acid (C16:0) resulted in $[M+H-172]^+$, $[M+H-200]^+$, $[M+H-228]^+$ or $[M+H-256]^+$ fragments, respectively, in MS signalling (Table 3 in Paper I).

Eleven xanthophylls and 10 carotenes were detected in the saponified extract from rose hips and 23 xanthophyll esters were detected in the unsaponified extract from rose hips.

4.2 Carotenoid content in rose hips

To better describe and compare the carotenoid content in rose hips, in this thesis the carotenoids were divided into five groups: xanthophylls, lycopene isomers, undefined carotenes, β -carotene, and xanthophyll esters (Figure 1 in Paper II). As shown in Figure 9, lycopene isomers, undefined carotenes, and xanthophyll esters were the dominant carotenoids in rose hips. The β -carotene concentration was relatively stable between species and years. Around 80-90% of the xanthophylls were esterified and were present as xanthophyll esters in rose hips harvested during the late season in this thesis.



Figure 9. Carotenoid concentration (μ g/g dry weight) in rose hips from five rose species collected during 2013 and 2014.

The carotenoid content in rose hips differed between species and years. The total carotenoid content in rose hips from *R. carolina* and *R. virginiana* reached 1.7 mg/g dry weight, which was much higher than that in rose hips from *R*.

rubiginosa, R. multiflora, and R. rugosa. In general, fruits from 2013 contained slightly higher amounts of carotenoid than fruits from 2014 except for R. virginiana. This difference was assumed to reflect the different climate conditions between these two years, where the summer temperature in 2014 was somewhat warmer than in 2013 and the total number of sunshine hours in June, July, and August 2014 was greater than in 2013 (SMHI, 2013 & 2014). The rose hips were harvested based on their colour and ripening time was approximately one week earlier in 2014 than in 2013. The total carotenoid content was lower in 2014 than in 2013, which was correlated to a decrease in either the lycopene fraction or the undefined carotene fraction (Figure 9). Similarly, Andersson et al. (2011) demonstrated that the content of lycopene and total carotenoids in rose hips has a significant negative correlation with temperature and irradiation, which confirms the influence of climate on the variation in carotenoid content in rose hips between years. Interestingly, even though the total carotenoid content in rose hips in 2014 was generally lower than in 2013, the xanthophyll ester content was increased for four rose species out of five. These differences could be related to the carotenoid synthesis mechanism in plants as a reaction to external environmental stimuli or stress.

4.3 Anti-proliferative effects of carotenoids, triterpenes, and ascorbate

4.3.1 Anti-proliferative effects of different carotenoid fractions from rose hips

In Paper II, the anti-proliferative effects of the total carotenoid extract (TCE) and different carotenoid fractions from rose hips, including the lycopene isomer fraction, undefined carotene fraction, and xanthophyll ester fraction, were investigated in the two human breast cancer cell lines JIMT-1 and MCF-7. The IC_{50} was used as a parameter for evaluation and comparison of anti-proliferative activity.

As shown in Figures 2 and 3 in Paper II, the xanthophyll ester fraction showed similar anti-proliferative activity to TCE and was obviously more potent than the lycopene isomer and undefined carotene fractions, as evidenced by single-digit μ g/mL IC₅₀ values in most cases (Table 2 in Paper II). Both TCE and the xanthophyll ester fraction from *R. multiflora* hips showed higher anti-proliferative activity than those from the other species. Interestingly, the xanthophyll ester composition in rose hips from *R. multiflora* was found to be different from that in hips from the other species. As reported in Paper I, the dominant peaks of the xanthophyll ester fraction in *R. multiflora* were lutein dilaurate (C12:0-C12:0), zeaxanthin dilaurate (C12:0-C12:0), while in the other

species the dominant peaks were rubixanthin laurate (C12:0) and rubixanthin myristate (C14:0).

Anti-cancer activity of other terpenoid esters, but not of xanthophyll esters, has been reported. A sesquiterpene ester extracted from the root of *Celastrus orbiculatus* has been found to reverse the multi-drug resistance property of MCF-7/ADR cells and human oral epidermal cancer KB-V1 cells (Kim *et al.*, 1998). Five daphnane diterpene esters extracted from *Daphne genkwa* (Thymelaeaceae) flowers have been found to inhibit the proliferation of A549 human lung cancer cells, but to be relatively non-cytotoxic in normal lung epithelial MRC-5 cells (Hong *et al.*, 2010). Isolated UA hydroxycinnamate esters can inhibit the proliferation of several lung, colon, breast, and renal cancer cell lines, as well as melanoma and leukaemia cell lines with 1.2 to 11 μ M IC₅₀ values (Kondo, 2006). To investigate the anti-proliferative activity of the free xanthophylls lutein and zeaxanthin and their respective esters were compared in Paper III.

In Paper III, neither lutein nor zeaxanthin showed any inhibitory effect in cell proliferation up to a concentration of 100 μ M (Figure 3A in Paper III). Lutein and zeaxanthin have been reported to inhibit human oral epithelial cancer KB cells after 72 h of incubation, with IC₅₀ values of 50 μ M and 30 μ M, respectively (Sun & Yao, 2007). Thus, the same compounds have different effects on different cell types. Both lutein dimyristate (Figure 3B in Paper III) and lutein myristate palmitate (Figure 4 in Paper II) resulted in IC₅₀ values in the single-digit μ M range and zeaxanthin dimyristate resulted in IC₅₀ values in the single- to double-digit μ M range (Table 2). It was therefore confirmed that the xanthophyll esters were significantly more potent than their respective free xanthophyll forms.

Compound	JIMT-1	MCF-7	MCF-10A	
Lutein	> 100	> 100	> 100	
Zeaxanthin	> 100	> 100	> 100	
Lu-C14-C141	2.25 ± 0.40	0.85 ± 0.16	2.32 ± 0.48	
Lu-C14-C16 ²	6.34 ± 0.14	2.19 ± 0.48	NI^4	
Zea-C14-C14 ³	~ 50	6.80 ± 0.95	18.28 ± 6.30	

Table 2. IC_{50} values (μM) of xanthophylls and xanthophyll esters obtained in MTT assay using the JIMT-1 and MCF-7 human breast cancer cell lines and the MCF-10A normal-like human breast epithelial cell line

¹Lutein dimyristate.

²Lutein myristate palmitate.

³Zeaxanthin dimyristate.

⁴Not investigated.

In addition, the cell proliferation data showed that lutein esters were more potent than zeaxanthin esters and that lutein dimyristate was more potent than lutein myristate palmitate. This suggests that the xanthophyll component, as well as the fatty acid component, in the xanthophyll ester structure influence the bioactivity of the compounds. Further investigations are needed to increase understanding of the difference in bioactivity of various xanthophyll esters.

Comparison with reported IC₅₀ values for conventional breast cancer chemotherapy drugs such as mitoxantrone (0.34 μ M), chlorambucil (3.4 μ M), cyclophosphamide (6.6 μ M), doxorubicin (9.6 μ M), cis-platinum (14 μ M), and 5-fluorouracil (28 μ M) in MCF-7 cells, and with liposomal-delivered doxorubicin in JIMT-1 cells (59 μ M) after 72 h treatment (Tan *et al.*, 2010; Mahoney *et al.*, 2003), indicates that the two lutein diesters investigated have a more potent anti-proliferative activity than all except mitoxantrone. Although the data obtained from cell lines of xanthophyll ester treatments are thus interesting, many more preclinical studies are needed before these compounds can be considered as chemotherapeutic drugs for clinical trials.

Xanthophyll esters are believed to be hydrolysed by hydroxyl ester lipases in the gut before being taken up by the intestinal mucosal cells and esters are not normally found in blood (Zaripheh & Erdman, 2002). For example, Wingerath et al. (1995) showed that an increased amount of free β cryptoxanthin was present in chylomicrons and serum, but no ester, after intake of a β -cryptoxanthin ester-enriched tangerine concentrate. On the other hand, xanthophyll esters have been detected in human skin at a low level (pmol/g human skin) after intake of tangerine juice concentrate (Wingerath et al., 1998). Moreover, lutein esters (3% of the total serum lutein content) have been found in serum after food supplementation with a natural source of lutein mixture (extract from marigold flower) (Granado et al., 1998), suggesting probable re-esterification of xanthophylls following absorption. Furthermore, human CaCo-2 cells have been found to be able to esterify xanthophylls (Sugawara et al., 2009). However, due to the hydrolysis of xanthophyll esters in the gut and the low ratio of re-esterification of xanthophylls in the human body, xanthophyll esters administered orally will presumably not result in serum concentrations that are inhibitory to cancer cells. The clinical chemotherapeutic drugs used nowadays for breast cancer treatment are typically given either through injection or infusion (American Cancer Society, 2016). A functional concentration of xanthophyll esters could possibly be achieved by parenteral administration.

Even though chemotherapy is one of the most efficient treatment modalities applied in clinical oncology, severe side-effects are usually associated with it, resulting in different degrees of damage to tissues and organs (Ratajczak *et al.*, 2013). Thus, chemotherapeutic drugs with a low degree of side-effects are needed. In this context, it must be pointed out that the xanthophyll esters were also toxic to the normal-like MCF-10A cells tested in this thesis. However, it should also be noted that the oestrogen receptor-positive MCF-7 cells were more sensitive to the esters than the other two cell lines. The implications of this observation need further investigation.

4.3.2 Anti-proliferative effects of combinations of lutein dimyristate, triterpenes, and ascorbate

Both triterpenes and ascorbate have been reported to have synergistic anticancer effects in many cancer cell lines in combination with other compounds (Rouleau *et al.*, 2016; Prasad *et al.*, 2012; Espey *et al.*, 2011; Yamai *et al.*, 2009; Olsson *et al.*, 2004). Therefore ascorbate and triterpenes (OA, UA, BA, and TF from *R. multiflora* hips) and the xanthophyll ester lutein dimyristate were used in combination in Paper IV.

When the compounds or TF were added to cells singly, the antiproliferative activity found differed as follows: ascorbate < BA < OA < UA < TF < lutein dimyristate (Table 1 in Paper IV).

Among the combinations of lutein dimyristate and various triterpenes tested, the IC₅₀ of lutein dimyristate combined with 10 or 50 μ M triterpenes resulted in synergistic effects mostly in the MCF-7 cell line. For some combinations, antagonistic effects were seen in JIMT-1 cells, while the MCF-10A normal-like cells were less sensitive (Figure 1 in Paper IV). A combination of 10 μ M TF and 0.025~0.1 mM ascorbate (in particular 50 μ M ascorbate) was found to be the most promising combination, inhibiting the proliferation of MCF-7 cancer cells without influencing the MCF-10A cells (Figure 2 in Paper IV).

Previous studies have demonstrated that a high oral dose of ascorbate has no benefit in overall survival of cancer patients (Moertel *et al.*, 1985; Creagan *et al.*, 1979) and that the ascorbate concentration inducing cytotoxicity in cancer cells can only be achieved by intravenous administration (Verrax & Calderon, 2009). However, 50 μ M ascorbate, which when administered together with 10 μ M TF resulted in a synergistic effect in MCF-7 breast cancer cells, could easily be obtained by a daily ascorbate oral intake of 100 mg (Levine *et al.*, 1996). Thus, the data obtained in this thesis suggest that an oral dose of ascorbate could enhance the toxicity of certain therapeutic compounds in cancer treatment.

4.4 Inhibitory effects of carotenoids on cancer stem cell ALDH+ population

ALDH enzyme activity is a CSC sub-population marker in breast cancer (Charafe-Jauffret *et al.*, 2009) and JIMT-1, a HER2-positive cell line, contains a distinct CSC sub-population defined by ALDH⁺ (Huang *et al.*, 2016; Lesniak *et al.*, 2013). One of the characteristics of CSCs is their innate resistance to chemotherapy-induced cell death, which is called multiple drug resistance (MDR) (Eyler & Rich, 2008). CSCs express high levels of ATP-binding cassette transporters which mediate drug efflux, resulting in increased resistance to conventional chemotherapeutic drugs such as paclitaxel, doxorubicin, 5-fluorouracil, and cisplatin (Dean *et al.*, 2005; Hirschmann-Jax *et al.*, 2004). This MDR property of CSCs allows them to survive and initiate tumour recurrence, impeding efficacious cancer treatment (Donnenberg & Donnenberg, 2005; Kessel *et al.*, 1968). Therefore drugs targeting CSCs are required. In this thesis, the effects of the xanthophyll ester fraction isolated from *R. multiflora* hips and of xanthophyll esters on CSCs were investigated by monitoring the ALDH⁺ sub-population in the JIMT-1 cell line (Table 3).

In Papers II and III, the ester fraction and all xanthophyll esters studied were found to significantly reduce the CSC sub-population defined by ALDH⁺ cells compared with the control. Treatments with IC_{50} of the ester fraction or lutein myristate palmitate reduced the CSC population by almost 50% *i.e.* in the same range as the total cell number reduction in the MTT assay.

Compound	IC ₂₅	IC ₅₀	
Ester fraction	85.7 ± 7.7	55.0 ± 19.3	
Lu-C14-C14 ¹	88.1 ± 8.4	84.6 ± 13.6	
Lu-C14-C16 ²	79.8 ± 13.7	53.2 ± 20.5	
Zea-C14-C14 ³	64.2 ± 14.8	80.5 ± 12.4	

Table 3. *Effect of treatment with xanthophyll ester fraction or xanthophyll esters in reducing the ALDH*⁺ *sub-population in JIMT-1 cells. Values are presented as percentage of control value.*

¹Lutein dimyristate.

² Lutein myristate palmitate.

³Zeaxanthin dimyristate.

4.5 Inhibitory effects of carotenoids on cell migration

Metastasis is the major cause of cancer mortality, resulting in about 90% of cancer deaths (Christofori, 2006; Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). It has been reported that CSCs are responsible for cancer metastasis (Dalerba & Clarke, 2007; Hermann *et al.*, 2007). Cell migration is one of the most important steps

in cancer metastasis (Steeg, 2006; Mareel & Leroy, 2003). One method using cell lines to investigate effects of compounds on cell migration is the wound healing assay (Zahm *et al.*, 1997). After scratching of the monolayer, the cell-cell contact is disrupted and the cells at the wound margin start healing the wound through proliferation and migration (Zahm *et al.*, 1997; Coomber & Gotlieb, 1990). To limit the effect resulting from cell proliferation, serum-free medium was used in the wound healing assay in this thesis.

Wound closure was decreased to different extents by treatment with the ester fraction isolated from *R. multiflora* hips and the xanthophyll esters at concentration giving 25% inhibition (IC₂₅) or IC₅₀ (Figure 10, see also Figure 5A in Paper II and Figure 4A in Paper III), but not by lutein or zeaxanthin treatment at a concentration of 20 μ M (data not shown). Compared with the control, treatment with the ester fraction or xanthophyll esters resulted in significant inhibition of cell migration 24 h after scratching (except lutein dimyristate) and 48 h after scratching (except lutein dimyristate and IC₂₅ of zeaxanthin dimyristate) (statistics are shown in Figure 5B in Paper II and in Figure 4B in Paper III).



Figure 10. Effects of treatments on wound closure. Treatments: IC_{25} and IC_{50} of the ester fraction isolated from *R. multiflora* hips, lutein dimyristate (Lu-C14-C14), lutein myristate palmitate (Lu-C14-C16), and zeaxanthin dimyristate (Zea-C14-C14).

The xanthophyll esters investigated in this thesis, especially lutein myristate palmitate, significantly inhibited cell migration at the concentrations reducing the number of cells. Interestingly, lutein myristate palmitate treatment reduced the ALDH⁺ population more efficiently than lutein dimyristate treatment, which might have been reflected in the wound healing assay.

4.6 Inhibition of TNF- α -induced NF- κ B translocation to the nucleus by xanthophyll esters

TNF- α is a pleotrophic polypeptide cytokine which plays a significant role primarily in immune activities by activating the transcription factor NF- κ B (Feuerstein *et al.*, 1993). When not active, NF- κ B is sequestered in the cytoplasm by inhibitory proteins. TNF- α treatment induces phosphorylation of the inhibitory proteins, which results in release of NF- κ B. Free NF- κ B translocates from the cytoplasm to the nucleus to start regulating the transcription of various proteins important for cell proliferation and inflammatory responses (Beg & Baltimore, 1996; Baeuerle & Henkel, 1994).

In Papers II and III, the effects of the xanthophyll ester fraction isolated from *R. multiflora* hips and of other xanthophyll esters on TNF- α -induced NFκB translocation to the nucleus were investigated. Representative images are shown in Figure 6A in Paper II and in Figure 6A in Paper III. In this assay, TNF-α treatment alone resulted in 96% of nuclei becoming NF-κB positive. After 1 h of treatment with IC_{50} of the ester fraction or the xanthophyll esters before TNF- α treatment, both lutein dimyristate and the ester fraction slightly reduced the number of NF-kB-positive nuclei. However, lutein myristate palmitate treatment reduced the number of NF-kB-positive nuclei to 35% (Figure 11). On increasing the treatment time of lutein dimyristate to 4 h instead of 1 h before adding TNF- α , the number of NF- κ B-positive nuclei decreased to 82% (compared with 90% after 1 h pre-treatment) (Figure 6 in Paper III). Treatment with IC₅₀ of zeaxanthin dimyristate for 4 h decreased the number of positive nuclei to 21% (Figure 6 in Paper III). Previous studies have reported that emodin and curcumin inhibit TNF-α-induced NF-κB translocation in a dose-dependent manner (Plummer et al., 1999; Kumar et al., 1998), while the results in this thesis show that time is also important.

Nuclear factor- κ B is an important transcription factor involved in CSC maintenance and is a promising target in cancer therapy, especially in targeting the CSC population (Liu *et al.*, 2010; Murohashi *et al.*, 2010; Zhou *et al.*, 2008). The xanthophyll esters studied in this thesis have been proven to partly react in cancer cells through the NF- κ B pathway, but this pathway is complex, with regulatory steps on different levels (Gilmore & Herscovitch, 2006) and more detailed studies are required to better understand the targets of xanthophyll esters in this pathway. The findings in this thesis provide a general direction for further mechanistic studies on xanthophyll esters in breast cancer treatment.



Figure 11. Inhibition of TNF- α -induced NF- κ B translocation to the nucleus by 1 h treatment with IC₅₀ of ester fraction isolated from *R. multiflora* hips, lutein dimyristate (Lu-C14-C14), and lutein myristate palmitate (Lu-C14-C16).

5 Conclusions and future perspectives

The main conclusions of this thesis are as follows.

- A simple and efficient HPLC-DAD-APCI⁺-MS method was developed for identification and quantification of carotenoids in rose hips. Twenty-one carotenoids, including 11 xanthophylls and 10 carotenes, were detected in saponified extract and 23 carotenoid esters in unsaponified extract of rose hips from five different rose species.
- The carotenoid content in rose hips differed between species and years. Lycopene, undefined carotene, and xanthophyll esters were dominant carotenoid components in rose hips. The highest carotenoid content, 2.3 mg/g dry weight, was found in *Rosa carolina* L. hips in 2013.
- A lower IC₅₀ value in the human breast cancer cell lines JIMT-1 and MCF-7 in MTT assay was found for xanthophyll ester fraction than for lycopene isomer and undefined carotene fractions. The xanthophyll ester fraction from *Rosa multiflora* Thunb. hips was more potent than that in hips from the other species tested, which may be attributable to the unique xanthophyll ester composition of *R. multiflora*, which includes lutein dilaurate, zeaxanthin dilaurate, and violaxanthin dilaurate.
- Xanthophyll esters were more potent in cell proliferation inhibition than their respective free xanthophyll forms, in both cancer cell lines and a normal-like cell line.

- The xanthophyll ester fraction isolated from Rosa multiflora Thunb. hips and the xanthophyll esters lutein dimyristate, lutein myristate palmitate, and zeaxanthin dimyristate were found to decrease the ALDH⁺ CSC sub-population and inhibit cell migration.
- > The xanthophyll esters partly exerted their effects through inhibiting the NF- κ B pathway.
- Synergistic and antagonistic effects in cell proliferation inhibition were found in MCF-7 and JIMT-1 cell lines, respectively, when lutein dimyristate was combined with triterpenes. The best combination effect was found when an orally viable serum concentration of ascorbate (50 μ M) was combined with 10 μ M TF isolated from *Rosa multiflora* Thunb. hips. This combination significantly inhibited the MCF-7 cancer cell line without affecting the normal-like MCF-10A breast epithelial cells.

In future investigations on natural compounds in rose hips and xanthophyll esters, there are many openings to pursue. These include:

- Studying the mechanism of carotenoid synthesis in rose hips, especially the esterification procedure, and further exploring the difference between species from a genetic perspective. This could be useful if carotenoid content and composition are included as considerations in future rose hip breeding.
- Testing the bioactivity of other phytochemicals, for example phenolic compounds, in rose hips in order to explore their nutritional role.
- Defining the contribution of OA, UA, and BA to the synergistic effect of combinations of ascorbate and TF and investigating other anti-cancer activities of this combination for possible development as chemotherapeutic agents.
- > Investigating and comparing the anti-cancer effect of xanthophyll esters constructed from different xanthophylls (*e.g.* violaxanthin esters) and different fatty acids (*e.g.* lutein dilaurate, zeaxanthin dilaurate), in order to gain a better understanding of molecular

structure and toxicity. The toxicity in normal cells should always be taken into consideration.

- ➢ Investigating other cancer types regarding the effect of xanthophyll esters, *e.g.* pancreatic cancer, which is especially treatment-resistant with a dismal outcome.
- Exploring more detailed mechanisms of the NF-κB pathway and investigating the nature of the specific protein or process targeted by the compounds. This would help to further utilise xanthophyll esters in cancer therapy.

References

- Akbaraly, T.N., Favier, A. & Berr, C. (2009). Total plasma carotenoids and mortality in the elderly: results of the Epidemiology of Vascular Ageing (EVA) study. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 101(01), pp. 86-92.
- Al-Hajj, M., Wicha, M.S., Benito-Hernandez, A., Morrison, S.J. & Clarke, M.F. (2003). Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(7), pp. 3983-3988.
- American Cancer Society. (2016). *Chemotherapy for breast cancer*. <u>http://www.cancer.org/cancer/breastcancer/detailedguide/breast-cancer-</u> treating-chemotherapy. Retrieved on 2016-12-28
- American Cancer Society. (2016). *How is breast cancer classified?* <u>http://www.cancer.org/cancer/breastcancer/detailedguide/breast-cancer-classifying</u>. Retrieved on 2016-11-11.
- American Cancer Society. (2016). *How is breast cancer staged?* <u>http://www.cancer.org/cancer/breastcancer/detailedguide/breast-cancer-staging</u>. Retrieved on 2016-11-10.
- American Cancer Society. (2016). What is breast cancer? <u>http://www.cancer.org/cancer/breastcancer/detailedguide/breast-cancer-what-is-breast-cancer</u>. Retrieved on 2016-11-10.
- Andersson, S.C., Rumpunen, K., Johansson, E. & Olsson, M.E. (2011). Carotenoid content and composition in rose hips (Rosa spp.) during ripening, determination of suitable maturity marker and implications for health promoting food products. *Food Chemistry*, 128(3), pp. 689-696.
- Baeuerle, P.A. & Henkel, T. (1994). Function and activation of NF-kappaB in the immune system. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 12(1), pp. 141-179.
- Barros, L., Carvalho, A.M., Morais, J.S. & Ferreira, I.C. (2010). Strawberry-tree, blackthorn and rose fruits: Detailed characterisation in nutrients and phytochemicals with antioxidant properties. *Food Chemistry*, 120(1), pp. 247-254.
- Becker, H., Scher, J.M., Speakman, J.-B. & Zapp, J. (2005). Bioactivity guided isolation of antimicrobial compounds from Lythrum salicaria. *Fitoterapia*, 76(6), pp. 580-584.
- Beg, A.A. & Baltimore, D. (1996). An essential role for NF-kB in preventing TNFalpha-induced cell death. *Science*, 274(5288), p. 782.

- Bendich, A., Machlin, L., Scandurra, O., Burton, G. & Wayner, D. (1986). The antioxidant role of vitamin C. Advances in Free Radical Biology & Medicine, 2(2), pp. 419-444.
- Brewster, A.M., Hortobagyi, G.N., Broglio, K.R., Kau, S.-W., Santa-Maria, C.A., Arun, B., Buzdar, A.U., Booser, D.J., Valero, V. & Bondy, M. (2008). Residual risk of breast cancer recurrence 5 years after adjuvant therapy. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 100(16), pp. 1179-1183.
- Britton, G. (1995a). Structure and properties of carotenoids in relation to function. *The FASEB Journal*, 9(15), pp. 1551-1558.
- Britton, G. (1995b). UV/visible spectroscopy. ChemInform, 26(32).
- Buschhaus, C., Herz, H. & Jetter, R. (2007). Chemical composition of the epicuticular and intracuticular wax layers on adaxial sides of Rosa canina leaves. *Annals of botany*, 100(7), pp. 1557-1564.
- Cagle, P., Idassi, O., Carpenter, J., Minor, R., Goktepe, I. & Martin, P. (2012). Effect of Rosehip (Rosa canina) Extracts on Human Brain Tumor Cell Proliferation and Apoptosis.
- Charafe-Jauffret, E., Ginestier, C., Iovino, F., Wicinski, J., Cervera, N., Finetti, P., Hur, M.-H., Diebel, M.E., Monville, F. & Dutcher, J. (2009). Breast cancer cell lines contain functional cancer stem cells with metastatic capacity and a distinct molecular signature. *Cancer Research*, 69(4), pp. 1302-1313.
- Chen, Q., Espey, M.G., Sun, A.Y., Lee, J.-H., Krishna, M.C., Shacter, E., Choyke, P.L., Pooput, C., Kirk, K.L. & Buettner, G.R. (2007). Ascorbate in pharmacologic concentrations selectively generates ascorbate radical and hydrogen peroxide in extracellular fluid in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(21), pp. 8749-8754.
- Chen, Q., Espey, M.G., Sun, A.Y., Pooput, C., Kirk, K.L., Krishna, M.C., Khosh, D.B., Drisko, J. & Levine, M. (2008). Pharmacologic doses of ascorbate act as a prooxidant and decrease growth of aggressive tumor xenografts in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(32), pp. 11105-11109.
- Christensen, L.P. (2009). Galactolipids as potential health promoting compounds in vegetable foods. *Recent patents on food, nutrition & agriculture,* 1(1), pp. 50-58.
- Christensen, R., Bartels, E., Altman, R.D., Astrup, A. & Bliddal, H. (2008). Does the hip powder of Rosa canina (rosehip) reduce pain in osteoarthritis patients?–a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 16(9), pp. 965-972.
- Christofori, G. (2006). New signals from the invasive front. *Nature*, 441(7092), pp. 444-450.
- Chrubasik, C., Wiesner, L., Black, A., Müller-Ladner, U. & Chrubasik, S. (2008). A one-year survey on the use of a powder from Rosa canina lito in acute exacerbations of chronic pain. *Phytotherapy Research*, 22(9), pp. 1141-1148.
- Cohen, M. (2012). Rosehip: an evidence based herbal medicine for inflammation and arthritis. *Australian Family Physician*, 41(7), p. 495.

- Coomber, B.L. & Gotlieb, A.I. (1990). In vitro endothelial wound repair. Interaction of cell migration and proliferation. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 10(2), pp. 215-222.
- Creagan, E.T., Moertel, C.G., O'Fallon, J.R., Schutt, A.J., O'Connell, M.J., Rubin, J. & Frytak, S. (1979). Failure of high-dose vitamin C (ascorbic acid) therapy to benefit patients with advanced cancer: a controlled trial. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 301(13), pp. 687-690.
- Cunha, W.R., Martins, C., da Silva Ferreira, D., Crotti, A.E.M., Lopes, N.P. & Albuquerque, S. (2003). In vitro trypanocidal activity of triterpenes from Miconia species. *Planta Medica*, 69(05), pp. 470-472.
- Dalerba, P., Cho, R.W. & Clarke, M.F. (2007). Cancer stem cells: models and concepts. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 58, pp. 267-284.
- Dalerba, P. & Clarke, M.F. (2007). Cancer stem cells and tumor metastasis: first steps into uncharted territory. *Cell stem cell*, 1(3), pp. 241-242.
- Davis, J.W., Melendez, K., Salas, V.M., Lauer, F.T. & Burchiel, S.W. (2000). 2, 3, 7, 8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) inhibits growth factor withdrawal-induced apoptosis in the human mammary epithelial cell line, MCF-10A. *Carcinogenesis*, 21(5), pp. 881-886.
- Dean, M., Fojo, T. & Bates, S. (2005). Tumour stem cells and drug resistance. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 5(4), pp. 275-284.
- Delgado-Pelayo, R. & Hornero-Méndez, D.m. (2012). Identification and quantitative analysis of carotenoids and their esters from sarsaparilla (Smilax aspera L.) Berries. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60(33), pp. 8225-8232.
- Dick, D. (1997). Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. *Nature Med*, 3, pp. 730-737.
- Dolcet, X., Llobet, D., Pallares, J. & Matias-Guiu, X. (2005). NF-kB in development and progression of human cancer. *Virchows Archiv*, 446(5), pp. 475-482.
- Donnenberg, V.S. & Donnenberg, A.D. (2005). Multiple drug resistance in cancer revisited: the cancer stem cell hypothesis. *The Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 45(8), pp. 872-877.
- Dragu, D.L., Necula, L.G., Bleotu, C., Diaconu, C.C. & Chivu-Economescu, M. (2015). Therapies targeting cancer stem cells: Current trends and future challenges. *World journal of stem cells*, 7(9), p. 1185.
- Espey, M.G., Chen, P., Chalmers, B., Drisko, J., Sun, A.Y., Levine, M. & Chen, Q. (2011). Pharmacologic ascorbate synergizes with gemcitabine in preclinical models of pancreatic cancer. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 50(11), pp. 1610-1619.
- Eyler, C.E. & Rich, J.N. (2008). Survival of the fittest: cancer stem cells in therapeutic resistance and angiogenesis. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 26(17), pp. 2839-2845.
- Feuerstein, G., Liu, T. & Barone, F. (1993). Cytokines, inflammation, and brain injury: role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Cerebrovascular and Brain Metabolism Reviews*, 6(4), pp. 341-360.

- Fidler, I.J. (2003). The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis: the seed and soil'hypothesis revisited. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 3(6), pp. 453-458.
- Fisher, A.E. & Naughton, D.P. (2004). Iron supplements: the quick fix with long-term consequences. *Nutrition journal*, 3(1), p. 1.
- Gaziano, J.M., Manson, J.E., Branch, L.G., Colditz, G.A., Willett, W.C. & Buring, J.E. (1995). A prospective study of consumption of carotenoids in fruits and vegetables and decreased cardiovascular mortality in the elderly. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 5(4), pp. 255-260.
- Gilmore, T. & Herscovitch, M. (2006). Inhibitors of NF-κB signaling: 785 and counting. *Oncogene*, 25(51), pp. 6887-6899.
- Ginestier, C., Hur, M.H., Charafe-Jauffret, E., Monville, F., Dutcher, J., Brown, M., Jacquemier, J., Viens, P., Kleer, C.G. & Liu, S. (2007). ALDH1 is a marker of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells and a predictor of poor clinical outcome. *Cell stem cell*, 1(5), pp. 555-567.
- Ginestra, A., La Placa, M., Saladino, F., Cassara, D., Nagase, H. & Vittorelli, M. (1997). The amount and proteolytic content of vesicles shed by human cancer cell lines correlates with their in vitro invasiveness. *Anticancer Research*, 18(5A), pp. 3433-3437.
- Giovannucci, E. (2002). A review of epidemiologic studies of tomatoes, lycopene, and prostate cancer. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 227(10), pp. 852-859.
- Goupy, P., Vian, M.A., Chemat, F. & Caris-Veyrat, C. (2013). Identification and quantification of flavonols, anthocyanins and lutein diesters in tepals of Crocus sativus by ultra performance liquid chromatography coupled to diode array and ion trap mass spectrometry detections. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 44, pp. 496-510.
- Granado, F., Olmedilla, B., Gil-Martínez, E. & Blanco, I. (1998). Lutein ester in serum after lutein supplementation in human subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 80(05), pp. 445-449.
- Gudin, S. (2000). Rose: genetics and breeding. *Plant breeding reviews*, 17, pp. 159-190.
- Gustavsson, L.-Å. (1998). Rosor för nordiska trädgårdar: Natur och kultur.
- Guzman, M.L., Neering, S.J., Upchurch, D., Grimes, B., Howard, D.S., Rizzieri, D.A., Luger, S.M. & Jordan, C.T. (2001). Nuclear factor-κB is constitutively activated in primitive human acute myelogenous leukemia cells. *Blood*, 98(8), pp. 2301-2307.
- Guzman, M.L., Rossi, R.M., Karnischky, L., Li, X., Peterson, D.R., Howard, D.S. & Jordan, C.T. (2005). The sesquiterpene lactone parthenolide induces apoptosis of human acute myelogenous leukemia stem and progenitor cells. *Blood*, 105(11), pp. 4163-4169.
- Hanahan, D. & Weinberg, R.A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell*, 100(1), pp. 57-70.
- Hankinson, S.E., Willett, W.C., Manson, J.E., Colditz, G.A., Hunter, D.J., Spiegelman, D., Barbieri, R.L. & Speizer, F.E. (1998). Plasma sex steroid hormone levels and risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 90(17), pp. 1292-1299.

- Hayden, M.S. & Ghosh, S. (2008). Shared principles in NF-κB signaling. *Cell*, 132(3), pp. 344-362.
- Hermann, P.C., Huber, S.L., Herrler, T., Aicher, A., Ellwart, J.W., Guba, M., Bruns, C.J. & Heeschen, C. (2007). Distinct populations of cancer stem cells determine tumor growth and metastatic activity in human pancreatic cancer. *Cell stem cell*, 1(3), pp. 313-323.
- Hill, R.A. & Connolly, J.D. (2012). Triterpenoids. *Natural Product Reports*, 29(7), pp. 780-818.
- Hirschmann-Jax, C., Foster, A., Wulf, G., Nuchtern, J., Jax, T., Gobel, U., Goodell, M. & Brenner, M. (2004). A distinct "side population" of cells with high drug efflux capacity in human tumor cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(39), pp. 14228-14233.
- Hong, J.-Y., Nam, J.-W., Seo, E.-K. & Lee, S.K. (2010). Daphnane diterpene esters with anti-proliferative activities against human lung cancer cells from Daphne genkwa. *Chemical and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 58(2), pp. 234-237.
- Hormones, E. & Group, B.C.C. (2013). Sex hormones and risk of breast cancer in premenopausal women: a collaborative reanalysis of individual participant data from seven prospective studies. *The lancet oncology*, 14(10), pp. 1009-1019.
- Horwitz, K., Costlow, M. & McGuire, W. (1975). MCF-7: a human breast cancer cell line with estrogen, androgen, progesterone, and glucocorticoid receptors. *Steroids*, 26(6), pp. 785-795.
- Hotko, Y. (2013). Male breast cancer: clinical presentation, diagnosis, treatment. *Experimental Oncology*(35,№ 4), pp. 303-310.
- Huang, X., Borgström, B., Kempengren, S., Persson, L., Hegardt, C., Strand, D. & Oredsson, S. (2016). Breast cancer stem cell selectivity of synthetic nanomolar-active salinomycin analogs. *BMC Cancer*, 16(1), p. 1.
- Kai, K., Arima, Y., Kamiya, T. & Saya, H. (2010). Breast cancer stem cells. *Breast Cancer*, 17(2), pp. 80-85.
- Kessel, D., Botterill, V. & Wodinsky, I. (1968). Uptake and retention of daunomycin by mouse leukemic cells as factors in drug response. *Cancer Research*, 28(5), pp. 938-941.
- Khachik, F. & Beecher, G.R. (1988). Separation and identification of carotenoids and carotenol fatty acid esters in some squash products by liquid chromatography. 1. Quantification of carotenoids and related esters by HPLC. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 36(5), pp. 929-937.
- Kharazmi, A. (2008). Laboratory and preclinical studies on the anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant properties of rosehip powder–Identification and characterization of the active component GOPO®. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 16, pp. S5-S7.
- Kim, S.E., Kim, Y.H., Lee, J.J. & Kim, Y.C. (1998). A new sesquiterpene ester from Celastrus orbiculatus reversing multidrug resistance in cancer cells. *Journal of Natural Products*, 61(1), pp. 108-111.

- Kondo, M. (2006). Phytochemical Studies of Extracts from Cranberry (Vaccinium Macrocarpon) with Anticancer, Antifungal and Cardioprotective Properties: A Thesis in Chemistry.
- Korkaya, H., Paulson, A., Iovino, F. & Wicha, M.S. (2008). HER2 regulates the mammary stem/progenitor cell population driving tumorigenesis and invasion. *Oncogene*, 27(47), pp. 6120-6130.
- Kovacs, S., Toth, M. & Facsar, G. Fruit quality of some rose species native in Hungary. In: *Proceedings of Eucarpia symposium on Fruit Breeding and Genetics* 5381999, pp. 103-108.
- Kovács, S., Udvardy, L. & Tóth, M. (2010). Breeding Rosa taxa native to the Carpathian Basin for fruit purposes—fruit quality. *Acta Agronomica Hungarica*, 58(3), pp. 273-281.
- Kumar, A., Dhawan, S. & Aggarwal, B.B. (1998). Emodin (3-methyl-1, 6, 8trihydroxyanthraquinone) inhibits TNF-induced NF-kB activation, NF-kB degradation, and expression of cell surface adhesion proteins in human vascular endothelial cells. *Oncogene*, 17(7), pp. 913-918.
- Köninki, K., Barok, M., Tanner, M., Staff, S., Pitkänen, J., Hemmilä, P., Ilvesaro, J. & Isola, J. (2010). Multiple molecular mechanisms underlying trastuzumab and lapatinib resistance in JIMT-1 breast cancer cells. *Cancer Letters*, 294(2), pp. 211-219.
- Lesniak, D., Sabri, S., Xu, Y., Graham, K., Bhatnagar, P., Suresh, M. & Abdulkarim, B. (2013). Spontaneous epithelial-mesenchymal transition and resistance to HER-2-targeted therapies in HER-2-positive luminal breast cancer. *PloS One*, 8(8), p. e71987.
- Levenson, A.S. & Jordan, V.C. (1997). MCF-7: the first hormone-responsive breast cancer cell line. *Cancer Research*, 57(15), pp. 3071-3078.
- Levine, M., Conry-Cantilena, C., Wang, Y., Welch, R.W., Washko, P.W., Dhariwal, K.R., Park, J.B., Lazarev, A., Graumlich, J.F. & King, J. (1996). Vitamin C pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers: evidence for a recommended dietary allowance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(8), pp. 3704-3709.
- Li, D.W., Hyun, J.E., Jeong, C.S., Kim, Y.S. & Lee, E.B. (2003). Antiinflammatory Activity of. ALPHA.-Hederin Methyl Ester from the Alkaline Hydrolysate of the Butanol Fraction of Kalopanax pictus Bark Extract. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 26(4), pp. 429-433.
- Liu, L., Liu, Z., Qu, S., Zheng, Z., Liu, Y., Xie, X. & Song, F. (2013). Small breast epithelial mucin tumor tissue expression is associated with increased risk of recurrence and death in triple-negative breast cancer patients. *Diagnostic Pathology*, 8(1), p. 1.
- Liu, M., Sakamaki, T., Casimiro, M.C., Willmarth, N.E., Quong, A.A., Ju, X., Ojeifo, J., Jiao, X., Yeow, W.-S. & Katiyar, S. (2010). The canonical NFκB pathway governs mammary tumorigenesis in transgenic mice and tumor stem cell expansion. *Cancer Research*, 70(24), pp. 10464-10473.
- Liu, S., Lee, I.-M., Ajani, U., Cole, S.R., Buring, J.E. & Manson, J.E. (2001). Intake of vegetables rich in carotenoids and risk of coronary heart disease in men: The Physicians' Health Study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 30(1), pp. 130-135.

- López-Lázaro, M. (2008). The warburg effect: why and how do cancer cells activate glycolysis in the presence of oxygen? Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry (Formerly Current Medicinal Chemistry-Anti-Cancer Agents), 8(3), pp. 305-312.
- Lux, M.P., Fasching, P.A. & Beckmann, M.W. (2006). Hereditary breast and ovarian cancer: review and future perspectives. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 84(1), pp. 16-28.
- Lv, Y., Tahir, I.I. & Olsson, M.E. (2015). Factors affecting the content of the ursolic and oleanolic acid in apple peel: influence of cultivars, sun exposure, storage conditions, bruising and Penicillium expansum infection. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*.
- Mahoney, B.P., Raghunand, N., Baggett, B. & Gillies, R.J. (2003). Tumor acidity, ion trapping and chemotherapeutics I. Acid pH affects the distribution of chemotherapeutic agents in vitro. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 66(7), pp. 1207-1218.
- Malaguarnera, L., Pilastro, M., DiMarco, R., Scifo, C., Renis, M., Mazzarino, M. & Messina, A. (2003). Cell death in human acute myelogenous leukemic cells induced by pyrrolidinedithiocarbamate. *Apoptosis*, 8(5), pp. 539-545.
- Mareel, M. & Leroy, A. (2003). Clinical, cellular, and molecular aspects of cancer invasion. *Physiological Reviews*, 83(2), pp. 337-376.
- Moertel, C.G., Fleming, T.R., Creagan, E.T., Rubin, J., O'Connell, M.J. & Ames, M.M. (1985). High-dose vitamin C versus placebo in the treatment of patients with advanced cancer who have had no prior chemotherapy: a randomized double-blind comparison. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 312(3), pp. 137-141.
- Mosmann, T. (1983). Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 65(1-2), pp. 55-63.
- Murohashi, M., Hinohara, K., Kuroda, M., Isagawa, T., Tsuji, S., Kobayashi, S., Umezawa, K., Tojo, A., Aburatani, H. & Gotoh, N. (2010). Gene set enrichment analysis provides insight into novel signalling pathways in breast cancer stem cells. *British Journal of Cancer*, 102(1), pp. 206-212.
- Muto, Y., Fujii, J., Shidoji, Y., Moriwaki, H., Kawaguchi, T. & Noda, T. (1995). Growth retardation in human cervical dysplasia-derived cell lines by betacarotene through down-regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 62(6), pp. 1535S-1540S.
- Nishino, H., Nishino, A., Takayasu, J., Hasegawa, T., Iwashima, A., Hirabayashi, K., Iwata, S. & Shibata, S. (1988). Inhibition of the tumor-promoting action of 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate by some oleanane-type triterpenoid compounds. *Cancer Research*, 48(18), pp. 5210-5215.
- Olsson, M.E., Gustavsson, K.-E., Andersson, S., Nilsson, Å. & Duan, R.-D. (2004). Inhibition of cancer cell proliferation in vitro by fruit and berry extracts and correlations with antioxidant levels. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 52(24), pp. 7264-7271.
- Orhan, N., Aslan, M., Hosbas, S. & Deliorman, O.D. (2009). Antidiabetic effect and antioxidant potential of Rosa canina fruits. *Pharmacognosy Magazine*, 5(20), p. 309.

- Ortiz-Andrade, R., Garcia-Jimenez, S., Castillo-Espana, P., Ramirez-Avila, G., Villalobos-Molina, R. & Estrada-Soto, S. (2007). α-Glucosidase inhibitory activity of the methanolic extract from Tournefortia hartwegiana: an anti-hyperglycemic agent. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 109(1), pp. 48-53.
- Osganian, S.K., Stampfer, M.J., Rimm, E., Spiegelman, D., Manson, J.E. & Willett, W.C. (2003). Dietary carotenoids and risk of coronary artery disease in women. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 77(6), pp. 1390-1399.
- Padh, H. (1991). Vitamin C: newer insights into its biochemical functions. *Nutrition Reviews*, 49(3), pp. 65-70.
- Peschel, S., Franke, R., Schreiber, L. & Knoche, M. (2007). Composition of the cuticle of developing sweet cherry fruit. *Phytochemistry*, 68(7), pp. 1017-1025.
- Petronelli, A., Pannitteri, G. & Testa, U. (2009). Triterpenoids as new promising anticancer drugs. *Anti-Cancer Drugs*, 20(10), pp. 880-892.
- Pharmacopoeia, B.H. (1983). British Herbal Pharmacopoeia. British Herbal Pharmacopoeia.
- Plummer, S.M., Holloway, K.A., Manson, M.M., Munks, R.J., Kaptein, A., Farrow, S. & Howells, L. (1999). Inhibition of cyclo-oxygenase 2 expression in colon cells by the chemopreventive agent curcumin involves inhibition of NF-kB activation via the NIK/IKK signalling complex. Oncogene, 18(44), pp. 6013-6020.
- Polyak, K. (2011). Heterogeneity in breast cancer. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 121(10), pp. 3786-3788.
- Potischman, N. & Brinton, L.A. (1996). Nutrition and cervical neoplasia. *Cancer Causes and Control*, 7(1), pp. 113-126.
- Prasad, S., Yadav, V.R., Sung, B., Reuter, S., Kannappan, R., Deorukhkar, A., Diagaradjane, P., Wei, C., Baladandayuthapani, V. & Krishnan, S. (2012). Ursolic acid inhibits growth and metastasis of human colorectal cancer in an orthotopic nude mouse model by targeting multiple cell signaling pathways: chemosensitization with capecitabine. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 18(18), pp. 4942-4953.
- Pusztai, L., Mazouni, C., Anderson, K., Wu, Y. & Symmans, W.F. (2006). Molecular classification of breast cancer: limitations and potential. *The Oncologist*, 11(8), pp. 868-877.
- Pyke, M. & Melville, R. (1942). Vitamin C in rose hips. *Biochemical Journal*, 36(3-4), p. 336.
- Radler, F. & Horn, D. (1965). The composition of grape cuticle wax. Australian Journal of Chemistry, 18(7), pp. 1059-1069.
- Ramachandran, C., Rodriguze, S., Ramachandran, R., Nair, P.R., Fonseca, H., Khatib, Z., Escalon, E. & Melnick, S.J. (2005). Expression profiles of apoptotic genes induced by curcumin in human breast cancer and mammary epithelial cell lines. *Anticancer Research*, 25(5), pp. 3293-3302.
- Rein, E., Kharazmi, A. & Winther, K. (2004). A herbal remedy, Hyben Vital (stand. powder of a subspecies of Rosa canina fruits), reduces pain and

improves general wellbeing in patients with osteoarthritis—a doubleblind, placebo-controlled, randomised trial. *Phytomedicine*, 11(5), pp. 383-391.

- Reya, T., Morrison, S.J., Clarke, M.F. & Weissman, I.L. (2001). Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. *Nature*, 414(6859), pp. 105-111.
- Rock, C.L., Flatt, S.W., Natarajan, L., Thomson, C.A., Bardwell, W.A., Newman, V.A., Hollenbach, K.A., Jones, L., Caan, B.J. & Pierce, J.P. (2005). Plasma carotenoids and recurrence-free survival in women with a history of breast cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 23(27), pp. 6631-6638.
- Rossnagel, K., Roll, S. & Willich, S. (2007). [The clinical effectiveness of rosehip powder in patients with osteoarthritis. A systematic review]. MMW Fortschritte der Medizin, 149(27-28 Suppl), pp. 51-56.
- Rouleau, L., Antony, A.N., Bisetto, S., Newberg, A., Doria, C., Levine, M., Monti, D.A. & Hoek, J.B. (2016). Synergistic effects of ascorbate and sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma: New insights into ascorbate cytotoxicity. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 95, pp. 308-322.
- Sariego, J., Zrada, S., Byrd, M. & Matsumoto, T. (1995). Breast cancer in young patients. *The American journal of surgery*, 170(3), pp. 243-245.
- Shyu, M.-H., Kao, T.-C. & Yen, G.-C. (2010). Oleanolic acid and ursolic acid induce apoptosis in HuH7 human hepatocellular carcinoma cells through a mitochondrial-dependent pathway and downregulation of XIAP. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(10), pp. 6110-6118.
- Slattery, M.L., Benson, J., Curtin, K., Ma, K.-N., Schaeffer, D. & Potter, J.D. (2000). Carotenoids and colon cancer. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 71(2), pp. 575-582.
- SLV (National Food Agency, Sweden). (2017). *Vitamin C.* https://www.livsmedelsverket.se/livsmedel-och innehall/naringsamne/vitaminer-och-antioxidanter/vitamin-c/. Retrieved on 2017-01-25.
- SMHI (Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute). (2013). Årssammanställning 2013. http://www.smhi.se/klimat/arssammanstallningar/vader/sommaren-2013en-lagomsommar-som-tilltalade-de-flesta-1.33432. Retrieved on 2017-01-23.
- SMHI(SwedishMeteorologicalandHydrologicalInstitute).(2014).Årssammanställning2014.http://www.smhi.se/klimat/arssammanstallningar/vader/sommaren-2014-inneholl-allt-1.81754. Retrieved on 2017-01-23.
- Soule, H., Vazquez, J., Long, A., Albert, S. & Brennan, M. (1973). A human cell line from a pleural effusion derived from a breast carcinoma. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 51(5), pp. 1409-1416.
- Soule, H.D., Maloney, T.M., Wolman, S.R., Peterson, W.D., Brenz, R., McGrath, C.M., Russo, J., Pauley, R.J., Jones, R.F. & Brooks, S. (1990). Isolation and characterization of a spontaneously immortalized human breast epithelial cell line, MCF-10. *Cancer Research*, 50(18), pp. 6075-6086.
- Srivastava, P., Kasoju, N., Bora, U. & Chaturvedi, R. (2010). Accumulation of betulinic, oleanolic, and ursolic acids in in vitro cell cultures of Lantana

camara L. and their significant cytotoxic effects on HeLa cell lines. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, 15(6), pp. 1038-1046.

- Steeg, P.S. (2006). Tumor metastasis: mechanistic insights and clinical challenges. *Nature Medicine*, 12(8), pp. 895-904.
- Sugawara, T., Yamashita, K., Asai, A., Nagao, A., Shiraishi, T., Imai, I. & Hirata, T. (2009). Esterification of xanthophylls by human intestinal Caco-2 cells. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 483(2), pp. 205-212.
- Sun, Z. & Yao, H.-y. (2007). Effects of Molecule Structure Modification of Lutein and Zeaxanthin on Inhibitory Tumor Cell Proliferation Activity [J]. *Food Science*, 4, p. 072.
- Tan, B.J., Quek, K.S., Wong, M.Y., Chui, W.K. & Chiu, G.N.C. (2010). Liposomal M-V-05: Formulation development and activity testing of a novel dihydrofolate reductase inhibitor for breast cancer therapy. *International Journal of Oncology*, 37(1), pp. 211-218.
- Tanner, M., Kapanen, A.I., Junttila, T., Raheem, O., Grenman, S., Elo, J., Elenius, K. & Isola, J. (2004). Characterization of a novel cell line established from a patient with Herceptin-resistant breast cancer. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 3(12), pp. 1585-1592.
- Tannheimer, S., Ethier, S., Caldwell, K. & Burchiel, S. (1998). Benzo [a] pyreneand TCDD-induced alterations in tyrosine phosphorylation and insulinlike growth factor signaling pathways in the MCF-10A human mammary epithelial cell line. *Carcinogenesis*, 19(7), pp. 1291-1297.
- Thimmappa, R., Geisler, K., Louveau, T., O'Maille, P. & Osbourn, A. (2014). Triterpene biosynthesis in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 65, pp. 225-257.
- Torre, L.A., Bray, F., Siegel, R.L., Ferlay, J., Lortet-Tieulent, J. & Jemal, A. (2015). Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 65(2), pp. 87-108.
- Tumbas, V.T., Čanadanović-Brunet, J.M., Četojević-Simin, D.D., Četković, G.S., Dilas, S.M. & Gille, L. (2012). Effect of rosehip (Rosa canina L.) phytochemicals on stable free radicals and human cancer cells. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 92(6), pp. 1273-1281.
- Udayama, M., Ohkawa, M., Yoshida, N., KINJO, J. & NOHARA, T. (1998). Structures of three new oleanene glucuronides isolated from Lathyrus palustris var. pilosus and hepatoprotective activity. *Chemical and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 46(9), pp. 1412-1415.
- Uggla, M. Cultivate the wild roses-experiences from rose hip production in Sweden. In: *Proceedings of I International Rose Hip Conference* 6902004, pp. 83-90.
- Uggla, M. & Nybom, H. Domestication of a new crop in Sweden-dogroses (Rosa sect. Caninae) for commercial rose hip production. In: *Proceedings of Eucarpia Symposium on Fruit Breeding and Genetics* 4841996, pp. 147-152.
- Walker, P.G., Gordon, S.L., Brennan, R.M. & Hancock, R.D. (2006). A highthroughput monolithic HPLC method for rapid Vitamin C phenotyping of berry fruit. *Phytochemical Analysis*, 17(5), pp. 284-290.

- Wang, M., Li, J., Shao, Y., Huang, T.-C., Huang, M.-T., Chin, C.-K., Rosen, R.T. & Ho, C.-T. (2000). Antioxidative and cytotoxic components of highbush blueberry (Vaccinium corymbosum L.). *Phytochemicals and Phytopharmaceuticals*, pp. 271-277.
- Weiss, L. (1999). Metastasis of cancer: a conceptual history from antiquity to the 1990s. *Cancer metastasis reviews*, 19(3-4), pp. I-XI, 193-383.
- Venturelli, S., Sinnberg, T.W., Niessner, H. & Busch, C. (2015). Molecular mechanisms of pharmacological doses of ascorbate on cancer cells. *Wiener Medizinische Wochenschrift*, 165(11-12), pp. 251-257.
- Wenzig, E., Widowitz, U., Kunert, O., Chrubasik, S., Bucar, F., Knauder, E. & Bauer, R. (2008). Phytochemical composition and in vitro pharmacological activity of two rose hip (Rosa canina L.) preparations. *Phytomedicine*, 15(10), pp. 826-835.
- Werlemark, G. & Nybom, H. (2010). 4 Dogroses: Botany, Horticulture, Genetics, and Breeding. *Horticultural reviews*, 36, p. 199.
- Verrax, J. & Calderon, P.B. (2009). Pharmacologic concentrations of ascorbate are achieved by parenteral administration and exhibit antitumoral effects. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 47(1), pp. 32-40.
- Willich, S., Rossnagel, K. & Roll, S. (2010). Patients with rheumatoid arthritis may benefit from a standardised powder of Rosa canina (rose hip). *Focus Altern Complement Ther*, 15, pp. 114-5.
- Wingerath, T., Sies, H. & Stahl, W. (1998). Xanthophyll esters in human skin. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 355(2), pp. 271-274.
- Winther, K. (2008). A standardized powder made from rosehips (Rosa canina L.) improves function and reduces pain and the consumption of rescue medication in osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 16, pp. S8-S9.
- Vuong, D., Simpson, P.T., Green, B., Cummings, M.C. & Lakhani, S.R. (2014). Molecular classification of breast cancer. *Virchows Archiv*, 465(1), pp. 1-14.
- Xu, R., Fazio, G.C. & Matsuda, S.P. (2004). On the origins of triterpenoid skeletal diversity. *Phytochemistry*, 65(3), pp. 261-291.
- Yamai, H., Sawada, N., Yoshida, T., Seike, J., Takizawa, H., Kenzaki, K., Miyoshi, T., Kondo, K., Bando, Y. & Ohnishi, Y. (2009). Triterpenes augment the inhibitory effects of anticancer drugs on growth of human esophageal carcinoma cells in vitro and suppress experimental metastasis in vivo. *International Journal of Cancer*, 125(4), pp. 952-960.
- Yamamoto, M., Taguchi, Y., Ito-Kureha, T., Semba, K., Yamaguchi, N. & Inoue, J.-i. (2013). NF-κB non-cell-autonomously regulates cancer stem cell populations in the basal-like breast cancer subtype. *Nature communications*, 4.
- Yogeeswari, P. & Sriram, D. (2005). Betulinic acid and its derivatives: a review on their biological properties. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 12(6), pp. 657-666.
- Zahm, J.-M., Kaplan, H., Hérard, A.-L., Doriot, F., Pierrot, D., Somelette, P. & Puchelle, E. (1997). Cell migration and proliferation during the in vitro wound repair of the respiratory epithelium. *Cell Motility and the Cytoskeleton*, 37(1), pp. 33-43.

- Zaripheh, S. & Erdman, J.W. (2002). Factors that influence the bioavailablity of xanthophylls. *The Journal of nutrition*, 132(3), pp. 531S-534S.
- Zhong, L., Gustavsson, K.-E., Oredsson, S., Głąb, B., Yilmaz, J.L. & Olsson, M.E. (2016). Determination of free and esterified carotenoid composition in rose hip fruit by HPLC-DAD-APCI+-MS. *Food Chemistry*, 210, pp. 541-550.
- Zhou, J., Zhang, H., Gu, P., Bai, J., Margolick, J.B. & Zhang, Y. (2008). NF-κB pathway inhibitors preferentially inhibit breast cancer stem-like cells. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 111(3), pp. 419-427.

Acknowledgements

There are a lot of complicated emotions when I review my PhD studies in the past four years. There are so many people I would like to thank. I would not be where I am today without the kind support from you all both in my studies and in life.

First of all, I would like to thank my main supervisor, Marie E. Olsson, for accepting me as a PhD student, guiding my study, experiments, writing and finally supporting me through the thesis. I have been so much encouraged by you to be confident to overcome all kinds of problems during my studies. Your professional expertise and your elegant self-improvement are things that I need to keep learning in my life.

My co-supervisor Stina Oredsson, thank you for bringing me into the world of cells and for your patient teaching from theory to practice. I will never forget how you teach all your students in the lab, step by step. Thanks for allowing me to make mistakes. I have learned from you how to deal with my mistakes correctly. Your restricted and meticulous attitude to science has taught me how to grow up to be a scientist in the future.

Our research engineer Karl-Erik Gustavsson, for me, you are more like a friend, a father in a foreign country than a colleague. Thank you for being there and for your company in my PhD life. Thanks all assistants in the lab, you had magic hands to solve my problems. I have learned so much from you – not only analytical skills but also Murphy's law and a positive attitude to life.

Thanks to the China Scholarship Council for providing a scholarship for me to carry out my PhD studies in Sweden. Thanks also for the donation from

Carolina LePrince with the "Kalenderflickorna" and associated sponsors for funding part of my experiments.

Thanks Sten Stymne, Bartosz Głąb, Jenny Lindberg Yilmaz and Ida Lager for the fruitful advice concerning fatty acid analysis.

Thanks Daniel Strand and Filip Paulsen for cooperating on the chemical synthesis, and for your valuable comments and efforts on the manuscript reviewing.

Jan-Eric Englund, thank you for always being kind and patient in helping me with statistics.

Many thanks to Helen Lindgren and Annelie Ahlman for their introduction to lab safety, management of laboratory supplies and helpful answers to my practical questions on experiments.

I am thankful to Helena Persson Hovmalm, Helene Larsson Jönsson and Cecilia Alsved for all information, answers and help regarding my PhD education.

Camilla Stjärnäng, thank you for helping to solve all the financial issues.

Helen Lindgren, Erland Liljeroth and Anders Carlsson, you let me know there was someone that I could ask for help with difficult personal affairs that I was not able to manage by myself.

Li-Hua Zhu and Xue-Yuan Li, I feel so lucky to have met you here. You are my parents in Sweden, giving me great mental support and making me feel less lonely in a foreign country. Thanks for many, many nice dinners at your place. The home warmth you have given me in Sweden, I will never forget.

Yanrong Lv, you are my sister, my friend, my model during my PhD studies. You accompanied me growing up both in study and in life since I came to Sweden. Thanks for countless guidance, encouragement, company and lots of help.

Staffan Andersson, you were always enthusiastic and patient in answering my questions. It was so nice to sit with you by the lunch table, have discussions

with you in the office. And it was such happy and unforgettable time to have your company in the lab.

Lars Mogren, thanks for your company at the beginning of my PhD life and for all kinds of practical tips in the laboratory, in study and in life. You are a special element that makes my memory of Sweden even better. Your humour and your concentration on whatever you are working with are things that I know I could never achieve.

Techun Chen, thanks for bringing fresh air and delicious foods from Taiwan. It is nice to remember your company in the lab and in the office. You have become my friend, although you did not stay for long.

Ann-Sofie Fält, thanks for your warm smiles, many, many Swedish cultural stories, short "svenska kurser" in the lab and the invitation to your home party. You are a sweet and warm memory in Sweden.

I would like to thank all the plant product quality group members. Faiza, Faraz, Bill, Mahbubjon, Bahrom, Anna-Lovisa, Joel, Marufkul, Evelyn, Elaine, Alphonsine, Antonio, thanks for your company during my PhD. Special thanks to Eva Johansson, Ramune Kuktaite, and Maria Luisa Prieto-Linde for organising many nice parties and group activities, which are all among my warmest memories of Sweden.

Thank all dear colleagues in Horticum and previous colleagues in the Biosystems and Technology Department for making a warm, friendly and cooperative working environment.

I am grateful to previous and current colleagues in the cell lab in Lund. Eva, Wendy, Zhen, Atena, Sofia, John, Markus, Elin, Plaurent, Sandra, Nigatu, and Helena, thanks for all the technical instructions and help in the cell lab, the nice discussions on our Tuesday meetings, and many interesting outside-lab activities. Words cannot express my gratitude to Xiaoli and Sebastian, not only for being the lab dictionaries that I could always trust and rely on, but also for being my great friends in life.

Thanks all the nice Chinese friends I have met in Alnarp, being together with you was an effective therapy to cure my homesickness. Special thanks to Xiujuan, I was greatly encouraged and inspired by you.

Many thanks to previous and current PhD students for sharing experiences and giving practical suggestions, with special thanks to Rui, Liaqat, Marjan, Masoud, Firuz, and Kibrom.

I would like to thank my class tutor of undergraduate studies, Huixia Yang, and my supervisor during my Master's studies, Zhihui Cheng, for your support, your care and concern and for being the guarantors of my studies abroad. I am so lucky to have met you at my home university.

Yuan, thanks for always being there to comfort me when I am sad, to encourage me when I am frustrated, to give rational suggestions when I get confused, and to cheer with me when I succeed. I become braver because I know you are there. You are the greatest fortune I have ever had in my life. I love you.

Finally, to my beloved family, to my dearest parents and elder sister. Thanks for your unconditional and endless love, understanding and support. I love you all.